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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS’

The directors present their report with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Group's pnncipal trading activites are the extracton and processing of phosphoric ore, concentration and
processing of raw minerals, production of mineral fertihsers, yellow phosphorous and phesphorous-containing products
at mine pits and plants located in Southern Kazakhstan These products are pnimarily exported from this region

DIRECTORS
The directors who have held office dunng the penod from 1 January 2010 to the date of this report are as follows

D Abdykalykova - resugned 19" August 2011
D Mamytov - resigned 10" March 2010

G Yessenov - resigned 16" August 2011 e
Y Nurgozhayev — appointed 19" August 2011 N
R Pshtayev - appointed 19" August 2011

All the directors who are eligible offer themselves for election at the fofthcohning first Annual.General Meeting

3" Floor, Farrgate House, 78 New Oxford Street, London, WC1A 1HB

REGISTERED OFFICE // \

-
-

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The results for the year and the financial position at the year end forthe Group were considered satisfactory by the
directors .

Group revenue Increased on a year on year basis by 2@% to US$219M Th\e Grgup generated a net loss for the year of
US$36M compared to a net profit of US$1 8M last year "The increased_loss 1s mostly the result of accounting
adjustments n relation to potential future deferred tax ilaglhtleS\ -

.

Post year end the company obtained loans fotalling US$50M for the const&uction of a sulphuric acid production facility to
increase 1its production of minerat fertisers More detail ‘on thi§ and other subsequent events can be found in Note 35 on
page 45

A \ A
PRINCIPAL RISKS ANDUNCERTAINTIES : \\ ‘\
. .
Country risk - A
The Group's oegratlons are subject.to country nsk.. belng the}economlc political and social nsks inherent In doing
business n 5azakhstan These risks mc\lude matters arising from the policies of the government, economic conditions,
the |mp?|t|on of,-or changes to, taxes ahd regulations, foreign exchange fluctuations and the enforceability of contract
rights

Flnanc\la!\nsk \

The Group’ s pnncxpal financial |nstruments are.non-denvative and compnse of trade and other recewvables, cash and
cash equ:valents\loans and borrow!ngs and trade and other payables The main purpose of these instruments 1s to
raise funds for the group s operations and to finance the group’s trading activities

The group has exposure, to credlt Ilqmdlty and market nsk Note 32 explains the Group’s objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managmg these nsks

EMPLOYEES

The Group 1s committed to a policy of equal opportunittes in employment by which the Group continues to ensure that all
aspects of selection and retention are based on ment and suitability for the job wathout considerations of sex, mantal
status, nationalitty, race, colour, race, ethnicity, sexual onentation or any disability

The Group aims t¢ maintain a diverse workforce free from discnmination  Persons who have or develop a disability are,
where possible, given practical assistance and training to seek to overcome therr disability in the performance of ther
work
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS'

PAYMENT POLICY

The Group does not have a formal code that it follows with regard to payments to suppliers Members of the Group
generally agree payment terms with their suppliers when they enter into binding contracts for the supply of goods and
services Suppliers are, in that way made aware of these terms

Group companies seek to abide by these payment terms when they are satisfied that the suppler has provided the
goods and services In accordance with the agreed terms and conditions

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following 1s a summary of key performance indicators 7
2010 ~ 2009

- S
Sales revenue growth 25%7 \ -53%

2N .
aross profit margin //21% 21%
R 0, A _29,

eturn on equity -4 /o \ \\ 2%

N
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS AN
The consolidated income statement for the perod I1s set out on page 7

The directors do not recommend payment of an ordmary dividend

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITJES\ \\
The directors are responsible for preparing the Report of the D:rectors and the financial statements in accordance with

apphcable law and reguiations A \ T .

’\ / -
Company law requires the dlrectqs toT prepare fi fi nanctél stqtements/for each ﬁnaqcual year Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financal statements in accordance with Intemattonal Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted for use in the European tnion Undér‘company law/tﬁe directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view of the state of affars of the company and of the profit or loss
of the company for that penod In prepanng the?e financial statements the directors are required to
\

select suitable accoyntmg pjohmes and then apply them\consnstently.

malsgg judgements and\accoun}mg estimates that are;reasonable and prudent,

state that the i nancial sta\tements comply with IFRS,
_~Pprepare % the fi naanal statements\on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to
/ presume that the' company will continue 1n business

o

The dnrectorS\a\re responsible for\kegplng adgqgate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactlons and disclose with reasbrable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to.ensure that the fi nanc;ai\lstatements compty with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding théassets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud

and other imegulanties y

A
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
So far as the directors are aware; there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies Act
2008) of which the company’ s/audltors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to estabhsh that
the company's auditors are aware of that information

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Y Nurgozhayev - Director

Date
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of Kazphosphate Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010, which
compnse the Group and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position, the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Group and Parent Statements of Cash Flows, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes n
Equity and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable
law and international Financial Reporting Standards (iFRSs) as adopted for use in the European Union, and as regards
the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006

This report 1s made solely to the company's shareholders, as a body, in accordance wath Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's shareholders those
matters we are required te state to them in a Report of the Audttor and for no other purpose To the fullast extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than,th‘e\’company and the company's
shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have fo/r/med

Respective responsibilites of directors and auditors s /

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page 3\g\he directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for bemng satisfied that they\gwe'a true- and falr view Qur responsibility 1s
to audit the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and_ Intérnational Standards on Audibing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Slg\ndards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements e

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures In the fnancral statements\suﬁ’crent to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free\from matenal m:ssta/tement whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting pohctes are appropriate to the grbups and parent
company's circumstances and have been consistently applled\and\adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the drrector\s‘ and the overall presentation of the financial statements

( \x
Opinion on financial statements \ \\» \
In our opminion the financial statements \ N, S
* gwe a true and far view of the state of the* group 5. and paren\company s affars as at
31 December 2009 and of its profit for the year then ended >
* have been properly prepared in- as,cordance w11h IFRSs as adoptei/fgr use i the European Union,
and .
¢ have been preg?red |n’é/clc’ordance wrth the requrrements of the Companies Act 2006
Emphasis of matter — Gomg concern /, /' ‘\
In forming our opimion on the{ ﬁan0|a| statements we._ have cons:dered the adequacy of the disclosure made n note 2 to
P by
the financial statements concernlng the Groups and parenl companys ability to continue as a going concern At the
balance sheet date-the Group’ s current habilities™ exceeded” its current assels by US$ 106,651,000 (2009 US$
114,912 000)’Thgse condltrons along with the other matters' explained 1n note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the
existence of a materral unc\ertalgty whl\gﬁ”“n\ray cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern ’Th; financial statements-do not. mclude the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue
asa gorrjg chern Our opinion le\not further, qua!jfed i respect of this matter

Opinion on other matter prescrlbed by the Compames Act 2006

In our opinion thg |nformat|on given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s Consistent with the fi f; nancial statements

\é/'
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in cur opinion
+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been receved from branches not visited by us, or
+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns, or
e certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
* we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Yogan Patel (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Maclntyre Hudson LLP
New Bridge Street House,

30-34 New Bnidge Street,

London
EC4V 6BJ

Date

Page{ 5




KAZPHSOPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note Group Company Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2010 2009 2009
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 2,770 - 2,770 -
Property, plant and equipment 9 419,756 32 441,026 43
Intangible assets 10 61,837 - 67,175 -
Investments in associate and joint venture 922 - 153 -
Other non-current assets 1 813 AN 1,579 -
Restricted cash 11 96 / 79 -
Long term receivables 18 P 37 -
investments 5 - 141,096 - 141,096
Total non-current assets 486,212 141.128 512,819 141,139
Current assets 7 \
Inventories 12 56,487 ‘ 57,790 -
Trade and other receivables 13 22, 462 5 14,905 102
Prepayments 875 15
Loans recevable 14 2 745 3,237 -
Taxes recewable 15 T4 982 . 6 676 -
Other current assets 71\0 ’ 313 -
Current income tax prepayments A - 3,646 -
Cash and cash equivalents 16 412 N 23 828 2
Total current assets < - ~._ 87798 \ N 81 88,270 119
TOTAL ASSETS \\§74 010 \141 ,209 601,089 141,258
EQUITY \
Called up share capital - NN / 98" \ 08 98
Retained earnings . P o284 674 . / (758) 320,692 (511)
Foreign exchange translation reserve AN \ (21/ 828) (10,564) -
Other reserves e Vo * o A\(705) - {1,043) -
Revaluation surplus O ; \ 38,543 - 38,543 -
TOTAL EQUITY . 300,782 (660) 347,726 {413)
LIABILITIES —— NS
Non-current liabilities ..__ \/ - ~>-/
Deferred income tdx Ilablhty 30 74,281 - 51,602 -
Provision for gsset retirement gbligations» \19 3,283 - 2,903 -
Provision for sogjal development of the region 3 568 - 666 -
Employee benefits NN 20 637 - 981 -
Total non-current habilities NN NN 78,779 - 56,152 -
Current habihties Lo 7
Borrowings \ . \. 17 172,697 141,584 174,356 141,339
Interests payable ; ) 167 - 267 -
Trade and other payables 21 17,224 22 16,840 72
Advances received - - 2,543 -
Accruals 132 117 24 135
Prowision for unused vacation ‘and bonuses 1773 - 1,605 -
Employee benefits 20 81 - 62 -
Provision for social development 3 113 - 113 -
fncome tax hability 255 143 125 125
Other taxes payable 18 2,007 3 1,276 -
Total current llabilities 194,449 141,869 197,211 141,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES 273,228 141,869 253,363 141,671
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 574,010 141,209 601,089 141,258
Approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors and Management on 2011

Y Nurgozhayev - Director

R Pshtayev — Director
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Int thousands of US dolfars Note 2019 2009
Revenue 22 219,847 176,123
Cost of sales 23 (173,614) (138,424)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of property, plant

and equipment 9 (921) 177
Gross profit 45,312 37,876

~
Other operating income 24 / /728 200
Distribution costs 25 / (33,803) (23,638}
General and administrative expenses 26 p - (18 884) {28,981)
Other operating expenses 27 f \(140) {110)
Negative goodwili P > \\ 21,000
Y
Ny
Operating profit 7 Vs (6,787) \ . 6,347
s \
Net forergn exchange gain/(loss) \\ e \ (1,886) > 1,704
Finance income 28 / 1,008 2,567
Finance costs o~ 28 (// (5,731) (18,438)
Share of profit of joint venture \ \ 423 238
T S
N TS
NS -
(Loss)/profit before income tax NN S . \ \“(1\ 2,882) (7,582)
™~ ~
\ Y\ ~~, ) *\\ S
Income tax benefit/(expense) ,// . \ \\ N\ 729 / T \/\ » (23,136) 9,408
% S ~ 7
Profit/{Loss) for the year / J \\ \\ {36,018) 1,826
Other comprehensive mcome\\ / /‘i NN
ey \
T T /\}
Land revaluataor; P L «:}\ - (100,972}
Income tax recorcied in eqmty\ T - 15,146
Actuanal pens:on (Ioss)/gam\ N N 20 338 {325)
Foreign‘éxchdnge translation \ 11,264) (29,031)
MRNIRN N NN (

Other comp\rehéngve income for il'\:e &year N (10,926} (115,182)
$SIQL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE (46,944) (113,356}

AN i

N4

Page |7




KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In thousands of US Dollars

GROUP

Balance 1 January 20098
Total comprehensive income

Balance 1 January 2010

Total comprehensive income
Balance 31 December 2009

COMPANY

Balance at 1 January 2009

Total comprehensive income

Balance as at 31 December
2009

Total comprehensive income

i

e

Balance at 31 December 2010

Revaluation
Foreign reserve on
exchange property
Share translation Other plant & Retained Total
capital reserve reserves equipment earnings equity
98 18,467 (718) 124,369 318,866 461,082
- {29,031) (325) {85,826) 1,826 (113,356)
98 (10,564) (1,043) 38,543 320,692 347,726
S
- {11,264) 338 i o (36,018} {46,944)
98 (21,828) (705) o 38,543 284,674 300,782
Retained Total
earnings equity
~ ~
(21,211) {21,113)
Pas 20,700 20,700
R N\\
NN 98 (511) {413)
N
N e ~_
— \, S~
- hY ~.
e RN \\ N / ~ . (247) (247)
\ .
§ 98 (758) {660}
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group Company Group Company
In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2010 2009 2009
Cash flow from operating activities
Proceeds from sales 216,695 - 178,153 330
Value added tax refund 18,390 48 7,073 53
Cash return from suppliers 1,704 ’\§ 3,757 -
Other 443 20 533 i
Payments to suppliers and contractors (185,855) e /(257) (114,301) (748)
Payroll expense (22,914) (18) (23,388) (20)
Budget settlements (10,847) \/ \ (15,466) -
Non-budgetary payment settlements (3,703) \ (2,828) -
Interest paid (4.9/1 3) (5,930) -
Restricted cash S (@31) « @ -
Others s 1,957) ) AN (1\,4\63‘2) -
Tax paid @ \\(77) (77
Foreign exchange transaction difference (5) (35) 5
Net cash received from operating activities 8:805 ¢ / (203) 26,004 (457)
-~ ~
Cash flow from investing activities \\“ T S
Y ~ \

interest recewved \ \ Tl T 4 . - 776 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, pIant and equmem N p 30 > - 4 -
Repayment of loan receivable \/ 1,542 27 2,760 -
Other receipts / 336™_ - 86 -
Acquisition of property, plant and equ;pmem \ ‘\ (6,082) - (6,562) -
Acquisition of fixed asset mvestments \ - - (2,794) -
Acquisition of intangible assets _m\ \ \ (1) - (80) -
Loan disbursed and financial aid provided to related parties ™ N ~(1,527) (68) (18,677, (72)
Net cash used in mvestmg activities \ e / T~ 7 (5,698) (41) (24,487) (72}
Cash flow from f‘rf/ncmg actlwtles\\

Proceeds from ioar\’us and borrowings 145,770 8,644 96,870 8,687
Repayment of loans: and borrowmgs {146,859) (8,379) (107,119 (8,245)
Other SO\ (334) - - -
Net cash used in f‘nancmg activities ) : {1,523) 265 (10,249) 442

/

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (416) 21 (8,732) (87)
Cash and cash equivalents at the'beginning of the year 828 2 9,560 89
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 412 23 828 2
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

1. The Group and its Operations

These group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
for the year ended 31 December 2010 for Kazphosphate Limited (the “Company”™)

Kazphosphate Limited 1s a company incorporated in England and Wales The group financial statements consolidate
those of the company and its subsidianies (together referred to as a group} The parent company financial statements
present information about the company as a separate entity and not as a group

2, Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies \

Basis of preparation. The financial statements have been prepared and approved by tﬁe directors in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) In publishing the parent company financial statements here
together with the group financial statements, the company has taken advantage of the exemption in S408 of the
Comparses Act 2006 not to present its iIndividual iIncome statement ang rela/t/ed notes that form part of these approved

financial statements /\

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for property, p!ant\and@qutpment inventortes
and intangible assets that are stated at their farr values Al] afmounts have been rounded.to ‘the nearest US$1000
except as otherwise indicated . < \ N

/ \
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with iIFRS, Internatlonal Accountmg Standards (IAS)
and refated IFRIC interpretations in i1ssue that have been endorsed by the European Commission and are effective at
31 December 2009 A

Preparation of the financial statements in conformrty with IFRS re\qmres the use of certain accounting estimates and
assumptions It also requires management to (exercyse its Judgment |n\the$rocess of applying the Group’s accounting
policies The areas involving a higher degree of Judgment‘or complextt)}\\or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements are dtsclosed ﬁnote 3\

Going cencern The financial statements have been prepared on a gomg concern.basis even though at the year end
the Group had net current habilities™ amounting to "US$H106, 651 000~ (2009 US$ 114,912,000) The directors have
concluded that a matenial uncertamty exrsts that casts\s,lgnlf cant’doubt upon the Group's abihty to continue as a going
concern and that, therefore,‘thefGroup may ‘be unable\to reaiise its assets and discharge its habilities in the normal
course of business However,,the directors have reviewed césh flow forecasts and trading expectations for the next 12
months from approval of these financial statements and are confident that the Group will be able to meet its current
liabilities Therefore the directors continue-to adcpt the going concern basis of accounting

Functional and presentatron\gurrency _The functlonal and presentatlon currency of the Group 1s US dollars ("USD™)
All amounts - these group fi nanclal statements aré presenfted in thousands of USD except where stated otherwise
The functlonal currency of the company s Dutch subsidianes 1s Euros and the functional currency of the Kazakh sub-
subadtanes 1s Kazakhstan Tenge

;

Foreign currency transacrrons Jransactons in foreign currencies are translated to USD at the exchange rates at
the dates of\the transactions Monetary assets\and liabiliies dencrminated Iin foreign currencies at the reporting date
are translated to USD at the excharige rate at-that date Non- -monetary assets and labihties denominated i foreign
currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to USD at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determlned ligre:gn exchange differences arnsing on translation are recognised m the statement of
comprehensive |ncome The exchange differences ansing upon consolidation on retranslation from a functional
currency other than'USD are recognrsed as a separate component of equity

Property, plant and equipment” Property, plant and equipment is stated at far value less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, where/requ:red The fair value of land 1s determined under penodic revaluation conducted by
independent appraisers

The cost includes all expenses directly related with the purchase of a relevant asset The cost of assets constructed
using its own resources Includes the cost of used matenals, direct labour costs, other expenses directly related with
asset delivery and put it into operation for the intended use, and expenses on asset dismantling and transfer and site
restoration The software purchase cost inseparably associated with functionalty of corresponding equipment 1s
capitalised n the cost of this equipment

The indwidual significant parls of an item of property, plant and equipment {components), whose useful lives are
different from the useful Iife of the given asset as a whole are depreciated individually, applying depreciaticn rates
reflecting therr anticipated useful ives Cost of replacing major parts or components of property, plant and equipment
items are capialsed and the replaced part is retired
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropnate, only
when it 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item wll flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured rehably All other repair and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss for the year dunng
the reporting penicd in which they are incurred

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment determined by companng proceeds with its carrying
amount are recognised in profit or loss for the year

Stripping costs Stripping (1e overburden and other waste removal} costs incurred’in the development of a mines
and open pits before production commences are capitaised as part of the cost of constructing the mine and
subsequently amortised over the life of the operation mines and open pits The stripping costs iIncurred subsequently
dunng the production stage of its operations are mnciuded in the cost of Inventory

Land revaluation Land 1s subject to revaluation with sufficient regulanty to ené\we that the carrying amount does not
differ matenally from that wiich would be determined using fair value at the end of the- “reporting period Increases In the
carrying amount ansing on revaluation are credited to other comprehenswe income and mcrease the revaluation surplus
in equity Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are ‘recognised in otherxcornprehenswe income and
decrease the previously recognised revaluation surpius in equity, ail other decreases are charge\d to profit or foss for the
year The revaluation reserve in equity 1s transferred dlrectly to retalned earnings when the revaluation-surplus 1s realised
on the retirement or disposal of the asset \ v

N
Deprecration Each item of property, plant and equipment ' deprec‘.lated usmg the straight-ine ‘method over its
estimated useful Iife, and depreciation charge 1s included In prof‘t\or loss “for the year Land and construction in
progress are not depremated The depreciation 1s charged to proﬁt or loss for the year and determined using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful Ilfe of the rtem of property plant and equipment

S

The expected useful ives of property, plant and equnpment Ty} the repomng and comparative penods are as follows

~, Useful lIives in years
\ ~
Bulldings and constructions T / \ > \ ~ 3-50
Machinery and equipment {// - 7 7-10
Vehicles / ‘\ 6-10
Other assets / 8-14

i

The residual value of\em\(aﬁsset 1S the/estlmated amount‘ that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of
the asset less the estlmated\costs of dlsposal if the asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at the
end of its useful Iife_The readyalwatue of ah asset i1s fil if thé Group expects to use the asset unhil the end of its
physical Iafe/ The asséts'. rgsmuai values and useful Iwes-arereviewed, and adjusted if appropnate, at each reporting
date ; -~ ~

e

Impa:rment The carrying amountks of propeny plant and equipment and all other non-financial assets are reviewed for
|mpafrment if there 1s any indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable

When a review for impairment Is conducted,-the recoverable amount s assessed by reference to the higher of
"value in use\ (bemg the net present\value of expected future cash flows of the relevant cash generating unit) and
"farr value Iess oosts to sell’ (the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash generating unit in
an arm's length transactlon between;knowledgeable willng parties, less the costs of disposal) Where there 15 no
binding sale agreement or active market, far value less costs to sell 1s based on the best information available to
reflect the amount the \Group/could receive for the cash generating unt 1n an arm's length transaction
A cash generating unn\ls the/smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or assets groups

If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds s recoverable amount, the asset 1s imparred and an imparrment loss 1s
charged to the profit and loss so as to reduce the carrying amount in the statement of financial position
to its recoverable amount A previously recognized impairment loss Is reversed If the recoverable amount increases as
a result of a reversal of the conditions that onginally resulted in the impairment This reversal 1s recognized In
profit or loss for the year and 1s imited to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no imparrment loss been recognized in prior years

Intangible assets All intangble assets are stated at far value less accumulated amorisation and imparrment loss,
where required Intangible assets include captalised sofiware licenses, software products, mining nights, rent
entilements and capitalised costs on social program financing
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The cost includes all expenses on acquisition and implementation of intangible assets Intangible assets are amortised
using the straight-line method over their useful lives, as follows

Useful lives 1n years

Licenses 6-20
Rent 10
Software 5-6
Goodwill Indeterminate
Other, including subsurface use nghts and nghts for groundwater extraction //\ 3-25

If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets 1s wntten down to the hugher of value in use and farr value less

costs to sell
PN \

Minerat nghts are measured at farr value less accumulated amortisation and impawrment losses based on perodic
valuations by the directors The cost of acquisition of mineral nghts comprises the signature bonus, commercial
discovery bonus, the cost of subsurface use nghis and capitalised expenditures on soctal sphere financing and
professional education

As part of the cost of acquisiion of the mineral nghts, the Group 1s committed to finance social sphere programmes
which benefit the wider community In the region These costs will not benefit the Group directly but are compulsory
under the acquisition terms These social costs are recognised as part of the cost of acquisiion upon inttial recogrition
with a corresponding hability recognised at the present value of future social costs dunng the penod of exploration and
production

As part of the cost of acquisitton of mineral nghts, the Group 1s committed to finance traimning programmes for the
professional education of employees to become specialists, which will benefit the wider community 1n the region as
well as the Group The education costs are recognised as part of the acquisition cost, with a corresponding liability
equal to the present value of estimated payments for education duning the penod of exploration and production
Mineral nghts are amortised to profit and loss using the units-of-production method based upon proved reserves
commencing when phosphortc ore 1s first extracted

Goodwill 1s not amortised as it 1s considered to have an indeterminate useful ife Goodwill 1s reviewed annually for
indications of imparment with any impairment losses recognised In the statement of comprehensive income No
impairment was recognised in respect of Good/yvm during the current pericd

Basis of consohdation Subs:dlarles are quy ‘conschdated from the date on which contro! I1s transferred to the group
Control exists when then the group haé the power, dlrectly or |?‘1directly to govern the financial and operating policies of
an entity so as “to obtain benefi ts\from,lts activities They are’deconsohdated frem the date that control ceases The
purchase method of accountlng 1s used-to account for the acqmsmon of subsidianes by the group

The cost of an acquisition 1s*-measured” ag the\falr value of the assets plus cosis directly attributable to the acquisition
Identlﬁable assets acquired and habllmes assumed in a business combination are measured inibially at their farr values
at the acqu:smon date L\ \/

\ 4

i\
The excess of the-cost of acquisition over the far value of the group’s share of the net farr value of the identifiable
assets, habilities and contingent hakilities is recorded as Goodwill if the cost of acquisiion 1s less than the fair value of
the group’s share of the.net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 1s recognised directly in profit and loss

All intra-group transactlogs balances income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation Uniform accounting
policies are apphed by the group companies to ensure consistency

Where the group has to share control of separate trading entitres with another party, the resulis of the jointly controlled
entity are included in the consclidated accounts using equity accounting for joint ventures Therefore the cost of the
investment in the jointly controlled entity as well as the group’s share of the jointly controlled entity's post acquisition
changes in net assets are included in the statement of financial positton The group's share of the jointly controlled
entity’s post acquisition profits are also disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income

Investments in associate undertakings are also accounted for using the equity method These are undertakings i
which the Group has between 49% and 20% of the voting nghts or otherwise has significant influence but not control
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Inventories inventones are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value From 2009 cost of inventory 1s
determined by FIFG method and includes inventory purchase costs, production or processing costs and other costs on
inventory delivery to their destination and bringing them to a relevant condition Prior to 2009 cost of inventory was
determined by weighted average basis In respect to own production inventonies and work In progress the actual cost
comprises related overheads on the basis of normal production capacity of an entity %

Net realisable value I1s the estimated selling price m the ordinary course of busmess less the cost of completion and
selling expenses e

Financial nstruments 7

/
(1} Key measurement terms Depending on their classification ﬁnancsa\i/lnstruments are carrned at far value or
amortised cost as described below . N \

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a’hability settled, between knowledgeabie willing
parties in an arm's length transaction Fair value s the current-bid  price for financial assets and\gurrent asking pnce for
financial habiives which are quoted in an active market For assets and Ilabtlmes with offsetting market risks, the Group
may use mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsettmg nsk positions and apply the bid or
asking price to the net open position as appropniate A fi nancial instruments regarded as quoted in an’active market i
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchang}e or other institution and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurning market transactions &n an arm's Iengtr\bams

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow T models or mode!s\b;\sed on recent arm’s length transactions or
consideration of financial data of the |nvestees\are\used to far value certain>financial instruments for which external
market pricing information 1s not available Valuatlon technlques may requnre\ass\umptlons not supported by cbservable
market data Disclosures are made In these separate fi nanmal statements if ch\anglng any such assumptions to a
reasonably possible alternative would result in signifi cantiy different prof' it, mcome total assets or total liabthties

Transaction costs are mcremental costs, that are dlrecﬂy attnbutable to the\acqulsmon Issue or disposal of a financial
instrument An incremental cost”ls one thaf‘would not\ ave been incurred if the transactton had not taken place
Transaction costs includé fees and commissions paid ‘to agents (including employees acting as selling agents),
adwvisors, brokers and dealer% levies by rgéuiatow agencu%s aqd secunties exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties
Transaction costs do notunclude debt premiums or d|scounts.\ financing costs or internal administrative or holding

costs - e 2

Amortised cost is thé amount at\whlch the financial” |nstrument was recogmised at inihal recognition less any principal
repayments”} plus—accrued |nterest and for financial asséts less any wrte-down for incurred imparrment losses
Accrued mterest mcludes\\amortlsatlon of transaction costs deferred at imitial recognition and of any premium or
dlscouni to” matunty amount_using the\eﬁ‘egtve interest method Accrued mnterest income and accrued interest
expense Including both accrued coupon and amortised discount or premwum (including fees deferred at ongination, if
any), are-not presented separately and are |nciuded In the carrying values of related items in the statement of financial
position \ ‘

The effective intgrest ! method 1s a}method of ailocating interest income or interest expense over the relevani perod so
as to achieve a constan\t penodlc rate”of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount The effective interest
rate 1s the rate that\exactly drscounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit losses)
through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter penod, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
finaneal instrument The\effectw/e inlerest rate discounts cash flows of vanable interest instruments to the next interest
re-pricing date except for the premlum or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the
instrument, or other varnables that are not reset to market rates Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the
whole expected Iife of the instrument The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate

(n) Classificakon of financiai assets The Group has only one measurement category of financial assets which are
loans and recewvables

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments other than
those that the Group intend to sell in the near term Loans and recewvables of the Group included in the statement of
financial position as trade receivables, loans receivable, cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(1) Classification of financral habiifies The Group's financial labilittes represent financial habilities carried at amortised
cost The financial liabifittes in the statement of financral position included borrowings and trade payables

{~v) Inihal recognition of financial nstruments Financial assets and labiltres are intially recorded at farr value plus
transaction costs Fair value at inihal recogrition 15 best ewidenced by the transaction price A gain or loss an inibhal
recognition 1s only recorded if there Is a difference between fair value and transaction pnce which can be evidenced by
other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation techmique whose Inputs include
only data from observable markets Subsequently, the carrying amount of borrowings 1s adjusted considering an
amortisation gain/loss, amortisation 1s recorded as interest income/expenses by using éffective interest method

Trade receivables Trade recewvables are initrally recorded at far value plus transaguo’é costs Trade recevables are
subsequently camed at amortised cost using the effective interest method less imparrment provision A provision for
impairment of trade recevables i1s established when there 1s objective ewdence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the engial terms of recewables Presented be!ow are indicators of the trade

recevables impairment Ny

- any portion of the recewvable 1s overdue and the late payment cannot be attnbuted to a delay caused by the

settlement systems, S e

/
- the counterparty experiences a significant fi nancial diffi iculty as evrdenced by #s financial nformation that the
Company obtains, ™

~
.,

- the counterparty considers bankruptcy or a financial Feorgémsatron e

T

- there 1s adverse change In the payment status of the counterparty as a result of changes in the national or
iocal economic conditions that impact the counterpany

- the value of collateral, sighificantly decreasgs as a resull of deterroratlng market conditions

Impairment losses are always recognised througﬁ amallowance accoum to wr:te dqwn the asset's carrying amount to
the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future -credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the onginal effective interest rate” of the asset The caicmattoﬁ ofythe present vall'fe of the estimated future cash flows
of a collateralised financial assét reflects, the cash ﬂows that may result “from, foreclosure less costs for obtaining and
selling the collateral, whether o; not foreclo\?ure Is probabt

Carrying amount of an assel 1$ decreased agamst the prowszons account and the loss amount 1s recognised in profit or
loss for the year within ge\neral and admrmstratlve expensee Uncollectable trade receivables are written off against the
trade recewvables provisions The amourit of recovered Ioss 18 recognlsed in profit or loss for the year within general
and administrative expenses \ S e .

el ~
a( *"M s

Cash and cash equrvalents Cash’ ang cash equnvalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and
other shoﬂ te/rm fughily hquid investments with cngmal maturities of three months or less Balances restricted from
being exchanged or usedto setlle a Irabrirty for at least twelve months after the reporting date are included in other
non-current assets ™
\\ \\ \

Prepayments Prepayment Is re\:ogmsed inMhe group financial statements at cost less prowision for impairment
Prepayments pald\to supplers for, futyre supplies of property, plant and equipment are presented within other non-
current asse!s\Prepayments for future supplies of inventories are presented within other current assets Foreign
currency denommated\prepayments for goods and services represent the nonmonetary items, and accordingly, are
stated at the exchange rate at the prepayment date, and are not subject to revaluation at the reporting date If there Is
an indication that the as\setS/gogds or services relating to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the
prepayment 1s wntten dowqjlccordlngly and a corresponding impairment loss 1s recognised in profit or loss for the
year

Prowvision for assets retirement obiigations Asset retirement obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 1s probable that an outfiow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made Retrement costs include landfill site restoration and closure (dismanting and demelition of infrastructure and
the removal of residual materials and remediation of disturbed areas)

Provisions for estimated costs of restoration, reclamation and rehabilitation works are provided for and recognised n
the cost of property, piant and equipment In the accounting period when the obligation anise, based on the net present
value of estimated future costs
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Provisions for assets retirement obhgation do not include any additional obligations which are expected to anse from
future disturbance The costs are estimated on the basis of a closure and restoration plan The cost estmates are
calculated annually during the Iife of the operation to reflect known developments, e g updated cost estmates and
revisions {0 the estimated lives of operations, and are subject to formal review at regular intervals

The Group estimates their costs based on feasibility and engineerning studies using the current technical restoration
standards and techniques for conducting restoration and remediation works

The amortisation or "unwinding” of the discount applied in establishing the net present vglue of provisions 1s charged to
profit or loss for the year in each reporting period The amortisation of the discount 1s’shawn as finance costs

Other movements in the prowvisions for assets retirement obligation, resultlng”fro;n new disturbance as a result of
updated cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives of operations andfreinsnons\to discount rates are capitalised
within property, plant and equipment These costs are then depreciated over the lives of the assets to which they relate
using the depreciation methods applied to those assets Movements in the prowsmns for_asset retirement obligations
that relate to disturbance caused by the production phase are charged to prof it or loss for the year

Where restoration and remediation works are conducted systen}atlcayy over the life of the ope}atlon rather than at the
time of closure, provision 1s made for the estimated outstandiig continuous remediation work at«each reporting date
and the cost 1s charged to the profit and loss for the year 7 ™~

<
Borrowings Borrowings are inttally recorded at fair value including transactlc;;\ costs and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method #

-
4

Borrowings are classified as current labilities unless the Group~has an-unconditional nght to defer settlement of
the hiability for at least twelve months after the reportlng date

Caprtalisation of borrowing costs Borrowmg costs directly attnbutable: tg the\acqmsmon construction or production
of assets that necessarnly take a substantial tme to get ready for intended use or s\ale {qualified assets) are capitalised
as part of the costs of those assets, If the commencement date for capitalisation 1s on or after 1 January 2009 Prior to

1 January 2009 all borrowing costs were expensed " ~— .

~ S,
Capitalisation of berrowing costs continyes up to the date when the assets-are Qubstantlally ready for their use or sale

The Group capitalises borrowmg costs that' could have been avoided If it had not made capilal expenditure on
qualfying assets Borrowing-costs capitalised are calculated at the Group’s average funding cost (the weighted
average nterest cost 1s applred to the expenditures on the quahfying assets), except to the extent that funds are
borrowed specifically fo\the purpose /of obtaining a qualrfylng asset Where this occurs, actual borrowing costs
incurred less any investment. mcom\e/on the temporary mvestment of those borrowings are capitalised

Operating leases Where the Group rs/a fessee In a- lease’ ‘which does not transfer substantially all the nsks and
rewards |nc1denta! to owne}shlp from the lessor to the Group the total lease payments are charged to profit or loss for
the year’on a’stralght-lln\é basss\over the Iease term The lease term 1s the non-cancellable penod for which the lessee
has cc’mtracted to lease the“asset together W|th any further terms for which the lessee has the option to continue 1o
lease’ th@ asset with or witholt further payment when at the inception of the lease It I1s reasonably certain that the
lessee wiil exercise the option \ N /

Trade payables Trade payables are\accrued when the counterparty performed its obligations under the contract At
intial recognition, the Group recognlses trade payables at farr value Subsequently trade payables are carned at
amortised cost usmg the effectlve mterest method

Value added tax (“VA T”)\Value-added tax related to sales 1s payable to the tax authonities when goods are shipped
or services are rendered\lnput VAT can be offset against output VAT upon the receipt of a tax invoice from a supplier
Tax legislation allows the settiément of VAT on a net basis Accordingly, VAT related to sales and purchases unsettied
al the reporting date 1s stated in the statement of financial position on a net basis

income taxes Income tax expense compnses current and deferred tax Income tax expense 1s recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that 1t relates to items recogrised directly fo equity, in which case 1t 1s recogrised In equity

Current tax 1s the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authonties in respect of taxable profits
or losses for the current and prior penods Taxable income or losses are based on estimates where the separate
financial statements are authonsed prior to the filling of the relevant tax return Taxes, other than on income, are
recorded within operating expenses
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Deferred income tax 1s provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry-forwards and temporary
differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and labilities and therr carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes The deferred income tax I1s not accounted for f it anses from inibal recogniton of an asset or habiity in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit nor loss

Deferred tax balances are measured at corperate income profit tax rates enacted’ or substantively enacted at the
reporting date which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss
carry forwards will be utilsed e

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry~forwards are recorded only to the extent

that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions'can be utihsed

The Group’s uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at every reporting date Liabllittes are recorded
for income tax positions that are determined by management as more  hikely than not to result n addmonal taxes being
levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authonties ,;The assessment I1s baseq on\the interpretation of
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the.reporting date and any known court or other rulings
on such 1ssues Liabiltes for penalties, interest and ataxes/ other than on_mcome are r?acog\nlsed based on
management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obllgatlons at the reporting date

Accounting estimates and prior period errors Management-has: madeé number of judgments, estimates and
assumptions relating to the reporting of assets,and llabilities and the dlsclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to
prepare these financial statements in conformity wnlg IFRS Actual results may differ from those estimates

Estimates and underlying assumphons are rewewed on an_ongoing bas\ls\Rewsnons to accounting estimates are
recognised in the penod In which the estimates are rewsed .and in .any future penods affected In accordance with the
requirements of IAS8 matenal prior perod errors are restated” retrospectwe1y \ \\

Revenue recognition Revenues-from sal\es of goods ;\nd serwces are measun:gd at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, except for trade dlscounts and\VAT Revenues are recognised at the point of transfer of nsks
and rewards of ownershlp of the goods to-a buyer norrnally whén the goods are shipped

When the far vatue of good(s received In a barger transactnon\cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is measured at
the fair value of the gocds or-service given.up /

Revenue from services 1s recognised n. the san?é“r“eportlng penod in which the service 1s performed by applying the
N o Sty Y

proportion of actual services pe[formed 1o date fromutotal services to be provided under the contract Interest income I1s

recognised over the f nance perlod using the effective Interest rate method

A e >
Barter | transacttons Some purchase transactions are performed through non-cash barter transactions Usually these
transact:ons mply mixed goods exchange with ultimate customers
\
Purchase\transactlons to be paid usmg non-cash barter are recognized based on the managements’ estimate of fair
value of the. essel which will be recelved or transferred as a result of non-cash settlement The farr value is determined
on the basis of .open market |nformat|0n Non cash transactions are not included in the statement of cash flows

N
Payroli expense*and related contnbutrons Wages, salanes, social tax contributions to pension and social insurance
funds, paid annual Ieaveaand/swk Jlleave bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the penod in which the
associated services are.rendered. by the employees of the Group

Employee benefits The>Group provides the long term employee benefits to employees before, on and after
retirement The agreement provides for one-off retirement payments, financial aid for employees' disability, significant
anniversanes and funeral aid to the Group’s employees The entitlement to some benefits 1s usually conditional on the
employee remaining in service up to retirernent age and the completion of a minimum service penod Such benefits are
valued consistently with an unfunded defined benefit plan in accordance with 1AS 19 Employee Benefits
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

2. Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

The expected costs of the benefits associated with one-off refirement payments are accrued over the period of
employment using the same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit post-empltoyment plans For defined
benefit post-employment plans, the difference between the fair value of the plan assets (if any) and the present value
of the defined liabiliies obligations 15 recognised as an asset or hability on the statement of financial postion The
llabiity recogrused in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans I1s the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting penod less the farr value of plan assets, tegether with
adjustments for unrecogrised past-service costs The defined benefit obligation 1s calculated annually using the
projected unit credit method Actuanal gains and losses ansing in the year are taken/to other comprehensive income
For this purpose, actuanal gains and losses comprise both the effects of changes N actuanal assumptions and
expenence adjustments ansing because of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred

The most significant assumptions used n accounting for given Iogg ter,r,n/‘ begeﬁts are the discount rate and
average labour turnover rate assumptions The discount rate 1s useg tovdetermlne\the net present value of future
llabiities and each year the unwinding of the discount on those Irabllltles 15 charged to the profit or loss for the year as
interest cost

/

Employee benefits other than one-off retirement payments are conSIdered as other long-term empioyee benefits The
entittement to these benefits 1s usually conditional on the completlon of a minImum service perrod\ The expected cost
of these benefits 1s accrued over the period of employmient using the same accounting methodciiggy as used for

defined benefit pension plans ; //

Offsething Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
only when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to offset the recognlsed amodnts, and there 1s an intention to either settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the Ilablhty sumultaneously\

N
Finance income and costs Finance income and costs compr:se interest’ e\xpen\se on borrowings and loans payable,
deposits, nterest iIncome/expense from unwrndlng of discount on provision-for asset retirement obligations and on

other financral assets and Ilabrllt:es net forergn currency gamsl(loss) rélated with- borrowrngs
“\\
Share caprtal. Assets contnbuted fo share capital are recognised’a{ fair value': as the contribution date Any excess of

the asset far value over the nommal value of- the share\capnat contribution at the legal registration date 1s credited
directly to equity as share premrum
S
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —~ 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiliies within the next
financial year Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s expenence and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are belleved to be reasonable under the circumstances
Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the
accounting policies Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recogrused in the financial
statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabiities within
the next financial penad ncludes

= Useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
= Employee benefits, ~

*  Provisions for site restoration, S

= Impairment of property, plant and equipment, \//\

«  Transactions with related parties,
= Land revaluation, ,/

»  Determination of functional currency, s

.
»~  Fair value of financial iInstruments, \\ N
\ o

=  Deferred tax assets

*  Valuation of mining nghts 7

{
AY

=  Carrying value of goodwill \ Sl TN

Useful lives of property, plant and equrpment. Tg\e esllmatron _of the useful.lives of tems of property, plant and
equipment 1s a matter of judgment based on expenence with similar assets The future economic benefits embodied in
the assets are consumed principally through use “However, other“factors\,such as technical or commercial
obsolescence and wear and tear oﬂen~resu|t in the dtmanthD/Of “the., economlc benefits embodied 1n the assets
Management assesses the remalglng usefu} Jives Iin accordance with the current technical conditions of the assets and
estimated pencd during which the assets are expected to earn benefits for the Group The following primary factors are
considered (a) expected’ usage of the assets, (b) expected, physical wear and tear, which depends on operaticnal
factors and maintenance programme and (<) technical or\{:\ommercml obsolescence ansmng from changes in market
conditions

N
e

Employee benefits The most sxgnnr icant assumptloﬁ‘s\apphed for accounting of these long-term habihties are discount
rate and estimated-staff_ turnover The discount rafe’ 1s-used 1o determine a present value of the benefit obligation of
future |labI|ItIeS ~.and_edch year\t\mwmding of discoun{”for such habilities 1s recognised in the statement of
comprehenS}ve Income*as, mterest expenses The assumption on staff turnover s used to forecast future benefit

payment ﬂow which 1s dlscounted lo reEeuve ~a present value of the benefit obligation of habilities

Prows:on.s'xfor assets retfrement obhgatlon In accordance with the environmental legislation and contracts on
subsurface\use the Group has a\legsal obhgation to remediate damage caused to the environment from its operations
and to decorrg\mfssmn its assets and restore a landfill site after its closure Provision i1s made based on net present
values for site rqstorallon and reha‘bllttgtton costs as soon as the cbligaticn anises from past activittes The prowvision for
assefs retirement-obligation s estimated based on the Group's interpretation of current environmental legislation and
the Group’s relatedxpr&gram joF itqundatlon of subsurface use consequences on the contractual terrifory and other
operations supported by the,feas/\mhty study and engineenng researches in accordance with the existing rehabilitation
standards and technlques Provisions for assets retirement obligatons are subject to polental changes mn
environmental regulatory requnrements and the interpretation of the legislation Provisions for assets retirement
cbligations are recognised when there 1s a certainty of incurnng those and when it s possible to measure the amounts
reliably

As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of the provision for restoration of phosphornc ore fields was US dollars
$3,225 thousand {2009 US$ 2,840 thousand), the carrying amount of the provision for restoration of groundwater
fields was US dollars $68 thousand (2009 US$ 63 thousand)

impairment of property, plant and equipment In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets®, the Group
reviewed the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment to determine the existence of any indications of
impairment of such assets The global financial recession was considered by the management as the factor of
impairment of preperty, plant and equipment Accordingly, as at 31 December 2010 the carrying amount and estimated
recoverable amount of the Company's property, plant and equipment was reviewed
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KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

To determine the discounted future cash flows, the Group's strategic planning models have been used
(applying the value 1in use method, as identfied in accordance with IFRS) and thus, the Group assessed
the possibility for recovery of the carrying amount of the property, ptant and equipment These models were prepared
on the basis of the lerms of phospharic ore subsurface use contracts, since such periods correctly reflect the long-term
nature of the Group’s assets

Related party transactions. In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions with its related
partes |AS 39 requires imtial recognition of financial instruments based on therwr far values Judgment 1s applied in
determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where there 1s no active market for such
transactions The basis for judgment 1s pricing for similar types of transactions with tnrelated parties

Land revaluation Land owned by the Group is stated at far value based .on reports prepared by an internationatl

valuation company Due to the nature of the land, the fair value of the land ES estlmated based on comparable market

data The principal assumption underlytng the estimation of the fair valugis that re!ated .to the adjustments to the size
\

of land plots e .

Determination of functional currency The funchonal currency of the Group 1s the cu#en& *of the pnmary economic
environment 1n which the entity operates The primary economic enwronment n which an er\mty\operates 1S normally
the one in which it prnmarly generates and expends cash” Anzentltys management considers.vanous factors in
determining its functional currency (1) the currency that domlnages the determmaj\non of the sales‘prlce,k(u) the currency
that most influences operating costs, (1) the currency In which an entity’s financing 1s denorminated; (W), -considerations
of the autonomy of a fereign operation from the reporting entlty and the Ievel of transactions between” the two, as well
as other factors as required by IAS 21 N

When the above indicators are mixed and the functlonal currency |s\not\obwous management use its judgment to
determine the functional currency that most falthfully represent the economic effects of the underlying transactions,
events and conditions Management gives prionty to the currency most\affectmg sales prices and operating costs
before considering the currency most relevant' \to ‘the fi inancing of an entlty and the degree of autonomy and
ndependence The latter factors are designed to xprowde additional - supportlng\ewdence in determining an entty's
functional currency - ‘,,\ \ \\ / . \\_

An analysis of the functional. currency- st:owed that the’ functlonai currency-of the Group 1s US doltars Indicators for
determining functional curreﬁcy are mixed for the Group &However management applied judgment and has chosen US
dollars as the funcﬂonal’cu/rrency because certain sales, Stgnlf icant portion of capital expenditures and operation
expenditures and some . debt sources are, denomlnated in*US dollars Management believes that the US dollar most
appropnately reflects the currency with thé most mﬂuence over the Group's operations

P
Fair value of financial mstrum}nts The- management of the\Group uses Its judgment to select a varniety of methods
and venfy assumptlonS‘that are r’rlatnlyfbased on market condmons existing at each reporting date in determining the
fair value of the.Group's._ financial instruments

Deferred mcome tax asset recggmtro\n The recognised deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable
throqu future deductions from\taxabie pmf ts~and 1s recorded in the statement of financial position Deferred income
tax assets are recorded to the extent that reallsahon of the related tax benefit 1s probable The future taxable profits
and the a\mou“’nt of tax benefits that are probable tin the future are based on medium term business plan prepared by
management\a{ndaextrapo[ated reéulté thereafter The business plan 1s based on management expectations that are
believed to be feasonable under the c1rcumstances

¢
7

Minming nights Mlnlng r|ght§/represent subsoll contracts between Kazphosphate LLC and the government of the
Republic of Kazakhslan\T hése give Kazphosphate LLC rmuneral extraction nghts which are for a set penod These are
intangible assets recognlsed tn the consolidated financial statements on the basis of an independent valuation report
by Deloitte LLP Kazakhstan and are amortised over the average length of the entitled extraction penod of 15 years

Goodwill This 1s reviewed annually for indications of impairment with any impairment losses recognised in profil or
ioss Noimpairment was recognised in respect of Goodwill during the current perrod
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4 New Accounting Pronouncements

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective from1 January 2010

IFRIC 17, Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners The amendment clarifies when and how distnbution of non-
cash assets as dwvidends to the owners should be recognized An entity should measure a lhiability to distnbute non-
cash assets as a dividend 1o its owners at the fair value of the assets to be distributed A gain or loss on disposal of the
undistributed non-cash assets will be recognized In the statement of comprehensive income when the entity settles the
dividend payable IFRIC 17 does not have any impact on this financial statement

IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers The interpretation clarifies the accountlng for transfers of assets
from customers, namely the circumstances in which the defimtion of an asset 1s,met, 1he recognition of the asset and
the measurement of its cost on initial recogrition, the identification of the separatelyxldentlf iable services (one or more
services in exchange for the transferred asset), the recognition of revenue, and the accounting for transfers of cash
from customers This interpretation did not have any impact on this financial statément

IAS 27 (Revised), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements The rewised IAS_27 requires an entity to
attribute total comprehensive income to the owners of the parent and to the non- control[mg interests (previously
“minanty interests”) even if this results in the non-controlling mterests havmg a deficit balance ¢ the previous standard
required the excess losses to be allocated to the owners of the parent In most cases) The reviset-standard specifies
that changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsndlary that do not result in the loss of control nfust be accounted
for as equity transactions It also specifies how an entity should measure any gazn or loss ansing on the\loss of control
of a subsidiary N //

At the date when contralis lost, any mvestment retajned in the former\s\ubsidlary has to be measured at its fair value

IFRS 3, Business Combinations (rewised January 2098 “effective for bus\lness combinations for which the acquisition
date 1s on or after the begmning of the first annua! reportlng perlod beglnnl\ng,\op or after 1 July 2009) The rewised
IFRS3 allows entities to choose to measure non-controlllng interests- using the previous IFRS3 method (proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable_net assets) or* at fa:r va/lue TQe tevised IERS 3 1s more detalled in providing
guwdance on the apphcation of/the purchase method\lmbusmess combinations The requirement to measure at farr
value every asset and hability.at each step in.a step acquisttion for the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill has
been removed Instead, mn.a business comblnatlon achleved/m stages, the acquirer has to remeasure its previously
held equity interest in the’ acqu:ree at its acquismon date“\falr value and recogmize the resulting gain or lcss, If any, in
profit or loss for the year Acqwsmon related costs are accounted for separately from the business combination and
therefore recognized as\expenses rather ‘thah-included i goodwﬂl An acquirer has tc recognize a liability for any
contingent purchase conmderatlon at the acqumlt;an\ date Changes in the value of that habiity after the acquisition
date are recognlzed n accordan\ce with other appllcable EFRSsV as appropriate, rather than by adjusting goodwill The
revised IFRS 3 bnngs into.)ts scope bugmess combinations mvolvmg only mutual entities and business combinations
achieved by contract alone The revised IFRS 3 did not have a matenal impact on these financial statements
e

Impmvements to lnternatfonal Fmanc:al Reporting Standards (issued in Apnii 2009, amendments to IFRS2,
1AS38) lFR.'C 9 and IFRIC 16 are effectrve for’ annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009; amendments to
IFRS 5, IFRS 8, IAS 1, IAS 7, IAS' 17 IAS 36-and IAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginmng on or after 1
January 2010) The improvements ¢onsist of a mixture of substantive changes and clanfications in the following
standards and Jnterpretations clanfication that contributions of businesses m common contro! transactions and
formation ofjomt\ventures are not within the scope of IFRSZ, clanfication of disclosure requirements set by IFRS 5 and
other standards for\n\on-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations
requinng to report a rne\asure of,total assets and habiihes for each reportable segment under IFRS 8 only if such
amounts are regularly provided- -to the chief operating decision maker, amending JAS 1 to allow classtication of certain
llabibties settled by entity’ s own equity instruments as non-current, changing IAS 7 such that only expenditures that
result in a recognized asset are eligible for classification as investing activities, allowing classification of certain long-
term land leases as finance leases under IAS 17 even without transfer or ownership of the land at the end of the lease,
providing additional guidance in IAS 18 for determining whether an entity acts as a principal or an agent, clanfication in
IAS 36 that a cash generating unit shall not be larger than an operating segment before aggregation, supplementing
IAS 38 regarding measurement of fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination, amending IAS 39
(1) to include in its scope option contracts that could result in business combinations, {2) to clanfy the penod of
reclassifying gains or losses on cash flow hedging instruments from equity to profit or loss for the year and (3) to state
that a prepayment option 1$ closely related to the host contract iIf upon exercise the borrower reimburses economic loss
of the lender, amending IFRIC 9 to state that embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in common control
transactions and formation of joint ventures are not within its scope, and removing the restriction in IFRIC 16 that
hedging instruments may not be held for sale under IFRS 5 in case of a loss of cantrol over a subsidiary pubhished as
part of the Annual Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards, which were 1ssued in May 2008, are
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4. New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The amendments did not have a matenal impact on
these financial statements

Unless otherwise stated above, the amendments and interpretations did not have any significant effect on the
Company's financial statements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual pencds beginning on or
after 1 January 2011 or later and which the Company has not early adopted

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments Part 1- Classification and Measurement |FRS'9/ISSUGd in November 200 replaces
those pars of IAS38 relating to the classification and measurement of ﬁnancualfaése/ts

IFRS 9 was further amended in October 2010 to address the classifi cation a/nd measurement of financial liabilities Key
feature of the standard are as follows ) “ ~
s
- Fmancial assets are required to be classified into two” measurement categones ~those to be measured
subsequently at farr value, and those to be measuredrsubsequently at amortized ‘cost™The decision Is to be
made at wnihal recognition The classification depend3/6n the entity’s business model, for managing Its
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow charactenstics of the instrument
- An instrument 15 subsequently measure at amortlzed cost oniy lf it.1s a debt instrument snd both (1) the
objective of the entity’s business modet 1s to hold the ass.\et to” colifect the contractual cash flows, and (2} the
asset's contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and interest { that 1s, it has only “basic
loan features™) All other debt tnstrumems are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
e N

\

\

- All equity instruments are to be measur\edtsubsequently at falr\value Equity instruments that are held for
trading will be measured at far value through profit-or_lods -For all otherxeqmty investments, an irrevocable
election can be made at Janicl recogn:tlon‘\totrecognlze u/n{eatlzed and\reallzed fair value gains and losses
through other comprehensive Income rather than groﬁt or'loss 'I;here 5 to be no recycling of fair value gains
and losses to profit or Ios/sf'Thls\elec\tlon may be made-on an instrument- by-instrument basis Dividends are to
be present in prof t or loss, as Eong as they represen{/a return on invesiment

- Most of the reqmrements n IAS,!39 for classifi }attoﬂ and measurement of financiai kabihtes were camed
forward unchanged to\IFRS 9/The’key change 15 _that an entity will be required to present the effects of
changes in own credlt risk of ﬁnanmal habilites des:gnated as at far value through profit or loss in other
comprehenswe income ™7 // T /y

‘\ —
While adoptton of IFRS 9\ls m;\ndatory from 1 January 2013, earler adoption 1s permitted The Company is
consmenng the mphcahoﬁ‘of the standa\rtj“‘tlg\e impact on the Company and the timing of its adoption by the Company

Amendm;\nt to IAS 24, Related Party Dlsciosures ( 1ssued In November 2009 and effective for annual penods
begmmng\on or\aﬂer 1 January 2011) 1AS 24.Was revised in 2009 by (a) simplifying the definiion of a related party,
clanfymg s inténded meaning and eliminating mconsistencies, and by (b) providing a partial exemption from the
disclosure req\wrements for government-related entites The Group does not expect the amendments to have any
matenal effect onits financral statements

IFRIC 18, Extinguishing Flnanmal Liabihties with Equity Instruments ( effective for annual penods beginning on or
after 1 July 2010) This IFRIC clanfies the accounting when an entity renegotiates the terms of its debt with the result
that the hability 1s extmgmshed through the debtor issuing 1t own eguity instruments t¢ the creditor A gain or loss 1s
recogmized in profit or loss based on the farr value of the equity instruments compared to the carrying amount of the
debt The Company does not expect IFRIC 19 to have any matenat effect on its financial statements |

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (1issued 1n May 2010 and effective from 1 January
2011) The mprovements consist of a mixture of substantive changes and clanfications in the following standards and
interpretations [FRS 1 was amended (1) to allow previous GAAP carrying value 1o be used as deemed cost of an item
of property, plant and eguipment or an infangible asset !f that iterm was used in operatrons subject to rate regulation, (2)
to allow an event dniven revaluation to be used as deemed cost of property, plant and equipment even if the
revaluation occurs durng a penod covered by the first IFRS financial statements and (3) to require a first-time adepter
to explain changes in accounting policies or in the IFRS 1 exemptions between its first IFRS intenm report and s first
IFRS financial statements, IFRS 3 was amended (1) to require measuremeni at far value (unless another
measurement basis is required by other IFRS standards) of non-controlling interests that are not present ownership
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4. New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

interest or do not entitle the holder to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of iquidation, (2) to provide
guidance on a acquiree’s share-based payment arrangements that were not replaced or were voluntanly replaced as a
result of a business combination and (3) to clanfy that the contingent considerations from business combinations that
occurred before the effective date of revised IFRS 3 (Issued in January 2008) will be accounted for in accordance with
the guidance n the previous version of IFRS 3, IFRS 7 was amended to clanfy certain disclosure requirements, in
particular (1) by adding an explicit emphasis on the mteraction between qualitative and quanttative disclosures about
the nature and extent of financial risks, (2) by removing the requirement to disclose carrying amount of renegotiated
financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired, (3) by replacing the reqmrement to disclose fair value of
collateral by a more general requirement to disclose its financial effect, and (4) by c!anfymg that an entity should
disclose the amount of foreclosed collateral held at the reporting date and not the. amourit obtained dunng the reporting
period, IAS 27 was amended by clanfying the transition rules for amendments to/IAS 21, 28 and 31 made by the
revised IAS 27 (as amended in January 2008), JAS 34 was amended to add’ additlon\al examples of significant events
and transactions requiring disclosure in a condensed intenm financal report Lﬂcludmgqansfers between the levels of
fair value hierarchy, changes in ctassification of financial assets or changes, In busmess ar economic environment that
affect the farr values of the entity’s financial instruments, ang IFRIC”‘!S was amended ‘tko cigrlfy measurement of fair
value of award credits The Company does not expect the amendments to have any matenal effect on its financial
statements /

Disclosures-Transfers of Financial Assets- Amendments to IFRS 7 (1ssued in October 2010 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011) The amendr{\ent requires addmonal disclosures |n\respect of nsk
exposures ansing from transferred financial assets The amendment requires additional disclosures in respect of nsk
exposures arising from transferred financiai assets The amendment.nciudés a requirement to disclose by class of
asset the nature, carrying amount and a descriptien of the rlsk§\and réwards of financial assets that have been
transferred to another party yet remain on the ’ént:ty s-balance sheet Dlsclosures are also required to enable a user to
understand the amount of any associated Inabullues \and the: relatlonshlp\between the financial assets and associated
habities Where financial assets have been derecognlzed but the entity rs\shll‘exposed to certain nisks and rewards
associated with the transferred asset, additonal xd|sclosure 1S requwed to enable the effects of those nsks to bhe
understood The Company 1s currently assessing the impact of the amended standard on disclosures in its financial
statements o . ™, / P . .
. — Y ~ ~

Unless otherwise descnbed above, the Rew standards and |nterpretat|ons are not expected to significantly affect the
Company's financial statements } \
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5. Company Investments

Shares In
subsidhary
in thousands of US dollars undertakings
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2010 141,096
Additions -
Balance at 31 December 2010 141,096
s
Carrying amount Ve
At 31 December 2010 141,096 e
o
At 31 December 2009 141,096 & 7
) ™
The Company's investments at the balance sheet date in the share gapltal of companies are as.follows
Country of Py AN Holding
Company name incorporation Nature of business Class of shares %
i Y
InterTherm BV~ Netherlands Holding cémpany Ordinary 100
EnergoTherm BY  Netherlands Holdmg~c\omp$ny e Ordinary 100
NG
The Company also has an indirect shareholding in the foliowing companies
>
Country of \‘\ \\\\\ ‘\\\ ™~ “« Holding
Company name incorporation % Nature of business \ N Class of shares %
TN L ™
Kazphosphate LLC Kazakhstan " Mining aqd cpemncgbprgdy&mn . ) Ordinary 100
Lamberto LLC Kazakhstan™™ "~ Crop protection manufactunng . Ordinary 100
NitroPhos LLC Kazakhstan .- F’l;oductlon\of industrial explosNes? Ordinary 49
Py \anq drilling \ .
ChemFos LLC Kazakhstan Exploration and processing of raw Ordinary 70
< minarals
Agrochimiya LLC Kaza&hste\l\n Pesticide and fertiizer production Ordinary 50

\//"‘*n\ R
) \ TS
6. Co/ﬁp@hs%caﬁital

Allotted and issued-*

Number Class \ R Nominal 2010 2009

] \ value $'000 S'000

50,000 Ordinary sr):are/‘ £1 a8 98
~

y,
As at 31 December 2030 the Cgmf)any was owed US$ 58 thousand (2008 US$ 60 thousand) in relation to unpard
share capital, which 1s included in trade and other recetvables

The Group's ultimate controling parties are the trustees of the Ballana Family Trust by wirtue of ther majonty
shareholding in the Company
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7 Employee Information

The Group's total staff costs (including directors) were

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2008

Wages and salanes, other bonuses and related expenses 31,083 31,303

Post-employment benefits and other long-term benefits (278) 395

Total staff costs .. 30,785 31,698

The average number of employees for the penod was 5,858 (2009 6,171) - /

Production 7 5,752

Distnibution / \ 7 26

Administration \ Nl 393

Total \'5 858 6,171

/

The directors of Kazphosphate Limited did not receive any remuneration from the Company during the current penod
< ~

8. Balances and Transactions with Related Parties_ . /> >

Parties are considered to be related if one party | has the ability to- -control t/he/olher party, 1s under common control, or
can exercise significant influence over the other party in making fi nancial and operational decisions In considenng
each possible related party relationship, attermon 1S | directed 1o the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal

form \ \\ ‘\

The nature of the related party relatonshups for those related pames with whom.the Group entered into sigmificant
transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are detailed below

T \ - "~
g - \ \/ L _Entities under Entities under
/ / \ 5 common control common control
In thousands of US dollars .~ N

Note 2010 2009
Loans recewable < ( / 14" 2,745 2,763
Restricted cash, non-current (Delta Bank) /p_l_ﬁ \ 96 79
Wages, salaries and short- term’ be\n\?‘ its” T —
payable P T ) - 3
Borrowmgs (Kgnnon Fman\c\:e Lirnited) </ . 123,337 123,337
Borrowmgs {Drewes Management Limited) 9,418 9,418
P OO N \
< NN AN

The m“cgme\and expense items v\wth related parties for the year ended 31 December 2010 were as follows
N * Y Entities under Entities under
\ ' common common
/ / control control
In thousands of US dollars\ / 2010 2009
General and admmlstratwe expenses 44 49
Finance income (mterest lgcome) 3 572
Finance cost (interest expense} 4 38

The key management compensation in 2010 and 2009 was included within general and administrative expenses The
total key management compensation cost for the year was as follows

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Wages, salanes, other bonuses and related expenses 294 286
Total key management compensation 294 286
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment

GROUP

Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows

Buildings Machinery
and and Other Construction
In thousands of US Dolfars Land constructions equipment assets In progress Total
Cost or revalued amount at 213,818 235,843 115,970 23,999 7,327 596,857
1 January 2009 '\
Additions - - - o 16,436 16,436
Disposals - (2) (102) / (4) (1) (109}
Transfers - 1,661 7, 393 . d 6, 41 7 (15,471) -
Revaluation {(100,972) - - - (100,972)
{iImparment)/Reversal of - (2) / 177 175
impairment P \ \
Balance at 31 December 112,846 237,500 / 23,2 30,412\ 8,468 512,487
2009
Accumulated depreciation - 14, 856/ / 24, 4,128 \ Y ,028 45,723
at 1 January 2009
Depreciatton - 14, 271 11,504 - \ 2,321 (2 023) 26,068
Disposals - (29) (292) T(9) (330)
Accumulated depreciation - 29,098\\35 92/3/ 6,440 - 71,461
at 31 December 209
™
Cost or revalued amount at 112,846 ° © \237 500 123 261\\ 30,412 8,468 512,487
1 January 2010 * \ T . .
Additions 51 - TN, N\ 1 8,557 8,705
Disposals (24) 13) /} (1 07) (187) (47) (378)
Transfer 3 492 .4 063\ 1,588 {9,143) -
(Imparments)/Reversal of (452) 192) / (3) (374) 921)
impairments
Balance at 31 December ﬂ: 873 \ 240532 127,216 31,811 7,461 519,893
2010 NN
Accumulated deprecnatlon —-—~%M 29,058 ‘\\ 35,923 6,440 - 71,461
at 1 January 2010 T | \\ Py
Deprecnatnon ~~13,840~ 12,277 2,793 - 28,910
Dlsposals {13) (105) (116) (234)
Transfers (8) (556) 564 - -
Accumulated depreclatlon
at 31 December 2010 \ 42,917 47,539 9,681 - 100,137
Carrymg«gr?fou nt at ™ \
31 December 2010 % 112,873 197,615 79,677 22,130 7,461 419,756
Carrying amount at :
31 December 2009.. /112,846 208,402 87,338 23,872 8,468 441,026
Depreciation charge \/
in thousands of US dollars Note 2010 2009
Cost of sales 23 9,256 8,775
Work In progress and Finished goods 15,368 13,605
General and administrative expenses 26 1,333 1,726
Distnbution costs 25 2,953 1,962
Total depreciation 28,910 24,709
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Additions of property, plant and equipment dunng 2010 were US $8,705 thousand (2009 US $16,436 thousand) and
represent purchases in accordance with the Group’s investment program focused on production capacity mamntenance
and equipment replacement, as well as current production modernization

As at 31 December 2009 land, buildings, machinery and equipment carned at US $17,305 thousand (2009 US
$12,427 thousand) have been pledged as collateral for borrowings received from HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SC JSC,
Alfa-Bank SB JSC and Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC

p
COMPANY . PR
in thousands of US dolfars Machinery and
equipment M
Cost/Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 77 />
Impairments (3) ~
Balance at 31 December 2009 74 /
" \\
Balance at 1 January 2010 <7§ AN N
Disposals (2 /’//
Balance at 31 December 2010 P 72
Deprectation Y \\\\\\\\\
Balance at 1 January 2009 \\ N w21
Depreciation charge Vo 10
. v -

Balance at 31 December 2009 ™ \ \\ 31 A\J
Balance at 1 January 2010 \ \ N3V
Depreciation charge / \ N9

e ) ) AN
Balance at 31 December 2010 / 40>

e ;
— ‘“‘\\\\\\

// T 32 )
\ 43

Net book value
At 31 December 2010

T

o .
At 31.December 2009~

-
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10. Intangible Assets

GROuUP

The movements in the cost of intangible assets are presented below

in thousands of US dollars Licenses
Softw and Mining Rent

oftware Other rghts entitiements Total
Histoncal cost/Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 527 148 74,464 1,701 76,840
Additions 47 821 - - 868
Disposals (8) - PRI - (8)

566 968 74,464 1,701 77,700
Balance at 31 December 2009 Piaihey” \\
Additions 7 2 \/ - \ - 9
Disposals (2) - //> - - (2)
Balance at 31 December 2010 571 9;1' / 74,464 \ 1 701 77,707
Amortisation < /B \ N
Balance at 1 January 2009 71 84 4,964 1707 5,289
Amortisation 82 26\ /4,964 170 5,242
Disposals (6) - /! - {5)
Balance at 31 December 2009 147 ™~ .. 110 \ \%923 340 10,525
\ el ™
Amortisation 127\ \4,964 170 5,346
Disposals (1)\ S~ NN - (1)
Balance at 31 December 2010/ NN 233/ . 14892 510 15,870
\ -

Net carrying amount / ‘\\ \ // ~
At 31 December 2010 Y 340 N\ 734 59,572 1,191 61,837
At 31 December 2009 / 419 '859%, 64,536 1,361 67,175

Software includes capitalized-.costs, of purchasing_ the ERP.. SAP program with the nght of use and other goods that are
required for Group $ operational-activities” \\/

Amomsynon of Us™ $5,3f\6\thousand (2009 US $5,242 thousand) has been charged to general and administrative
expenses

As at'3] December 2010 other- mtanglble assets, include capitalized costs on social program financing on the amount of US
$681 thousand (2009 US $770 thousand) accordmg to the phosphoric ore and ground water extraction contracts

4

11. Other Non-current Assets !

S/

Other non-current assets rep/resent/prepayments on purchased property, plant and equipment and services rendered for
increase i property, piant\and eqmpmem cost Prepayments mamly relate to the Group’s investment projects, such as
construction of a workshop Q} the production of sulphunc acid, granulated sodium tniphosphate and edible phosphoric acid

Restncted cash

In accordance with contractual terms, Kazphosphate LLC transfers cash to a long-term bank deposit account to finance site
restoration in future At 31 December 2010, the total balance on special deposit was US$ 96 thousand The effective interest
rate on this cash dunng 2010 was 4 1% (2009 4 1%)
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12. Inventories

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Raw matenals 19,155 25,258
Work In progress 18,529 16,437
Fimished products 15,041 16,147
Goods for resale 7,759 4,966
Goods in transit 285 -
Less provisions for obsolete and slow-moving inventory ’\\ (4,282) (5.016)
Total inventories T/ sea87 57,790

inventories expensed in the year of US$ 85,947 thousand (2009 US$ 85 947/th<;>Jsand) and charged to cost of

sales

Firished products in the amount of US$ 5257 thousand (2009 US$ 4,449 thousand) have been pledged as

collateral for borrowings with HSBC Bank Kazakhstan rd

Ve

Analysis of movements in provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory

rd
in thousands of US dollars S S N 2010~ . 2009
Bzlance at 1 January \\ P pd (5,018) >~ (5,466)
Provision made during the year N {825) (270)
Amounts written off during the year . 1,559 720
Balance 31 December N\ »\\\:\ (4,282) (5.016)
N \
13 Trade and Other Receivables \\ \ \
T \\\\ \\
GROUP / “\ \
Ny N ‘
In thousands of US dollars // i § 2010 2009
Financial assets // Z\
Trade receivables \B 20,496 18,301
Less provision for mpanrme‘nt\loss\ T — \"’“m (2,286) (3,.536)
Total ﬁngnﬁa}as&etg\\ \ “ 18,210 14,765
Non-f nancial assets o~
i N \
Other\recelvables N \, 4,939 193
Less prows:on for iImpairment Ioss e (687) (53)
\
¥
Total non-fﬁagcial\assets ; ] 4,252 140
3 i/
Total trade and \Bthe\r\‘receivabf% / 22,462 14,905
Y s d

4
e
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13 Trade and Other Receivables {(continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables classified as financial assets as of 31 December 2009 and 31 December

20101s as follows

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Current and not impaired 9,135 3,519
Past due but not imparred

- 30 to 90 days overdue 6,194 3,300
- 90 to 180 days overdue S 780 2,531
- 180 to 360 days overdue , 1,916 5,004
- over 360 days overdue 185 -
Total past due but not impaired 9,075 10,835
Individually deterrmined to be impaired {gross) <//\

- 360 days overdue . 356 3,946
- aver 360 days overdue ™ 930 1
Total individually impaired /” 2,386 N 3,947

Total trade recervables ' e 20438 18301
Less impairment loss provision ‘/” / {2,286) (3,536)

Total trade receivables, net . yd 18,210 14,765
Trade receivables that are current and not |mpa|red represent debtors\wzth\good quality credit history and good
reputation and low risk of default of payments ‘\ \”“\ e N ™
Y \ = \\ N
Analysis of movements in the impairment loss hrowsror? for.trade and other re;:ewables
in thousands of US doffars T T NN LN N 2010 2009
Balance at 1 January P 3 \ VA T (3,589) (1,056)
Provision made during the year : Y 1,246 (3,649)
Decrease/ (Increase) n prowsmn dunng the year N N (630} 1,116
\ AY
Balance 31 December \\ / /,’ . W\ (2.973) (3,589)
i . \/ . -~ T S ;//
The carry;pg amounts of the Group s trade recelvables are denominated In the following currencies
In rhoi‘fgands of US doliars \\\ \ \\ 2010 2008
N
US Doilars 11,818 7,716
Tenge 1,717 3,011
Russian Ruble\:s 3 4,675 4,038
Total trade and othér.recervabies -/ 18,210 14,765

As at 31 December 2010 \c?u/;rent/and future trade receivables in the amount of US$ 45,397 thousand (2008 US$
9,082 thousand) have been pledged as collateral for borrowings from JSC SB HSBC Bank Kazakhstan and SB JSC

Alfa-Bank
COMPANY

in thousands of US doilars 2010 2009
Other recevables - 23
VAT - 19
Called up share capital not pawd 58 80
Total trade and other receivables 58 102
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14. Loans Receivable

In accordance with the loan agreements alfl loans recewvable by the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 31
December 2009 are interest free with maturies of less than one year The carrying amount and far value of the

loans receivables are as follows

2010
Carrying Carrying
In thousands of US dollars amount Fair value amount Fair value
Company Daryn LLP 2,745 2,745 7 © 2,855 2,855
Kant JSC - P / 382 382
Total loans recevable 2.745 2745\ 3.237 3.237

Loans receivable represents debt of companies without a credit rating, but their rehablhty 18 determined by the Group
based on long-term cooperation with these companies and their good credit history The I6an recewvable from Daryn

LLP 1s denominated in Kazakh Tenge

15. Taxes Receivable /

<’ N
in thousands of US doflars / 2010 2009
VAT refund o~ 4,485 6,502
Other <\ \ 497 174
Total taxes receivable \ \\\ 4,982 6,676

\

The VAT refund represents & current._; asset of mput VAT resultlng from~purchase of goods and services 1n the
Republic of Kazakhstan Since-2009 on"a Juarterly ‘basis the Group s*subsujlary Kazphosphate LLC arranges for
recover of input VAT under the simplified scheme In 2010 Almaty City Medeu Distnict Tax Department conducted a
tax audit in refation to the accuracy of the' VAT assessments’and payments for the reporting periods in 2009 and the
first half of 2010 Bases on, this audit, no significant additional tax amounts have been assessed by the slate tax
authonties Group management belleve that the VAT will be fully refunded duning 2011, accordingly, the VAT refund

15 classified as a current asset i,

\._

16. Cash and Cash Equwa!ents \_/

in rhousands of US o'on‘ars

2010 2009
NN

Cash n bank, USD - 749
Cash m bank, Tenge 277 46
Cash in bank, RR 93 19
Cash in bank, GBP 24 2
Cash on hand / 18 12
Total cash and cash equg\va/lents 412 828
COMPANY
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Cash in bank, GBP 24 2
Total cash and cash equivalents 24 2
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17. Borrowings

GROUP
The carrying amount and fair value of borrowing are as follow
Carrying amount Fair Value

in thousands of US doliars 2010 2009 2010 2009
Kennon Finance 123,337 123,337 123 337 123,337
Limited

Drewes Management §418 9,418 9,418 9418
Limited / /

HSBC 30,582 22,592 L 30 582 22 592
Development Bank of ’ \ .

Kazakhstan - 17,206 S N - 17,206

Alfa-Bank 9,360 1,803 9,360 ™ 1,803

P 7
Total borrowings 172,697 174, 356 / 172 697\\\ 174,356

HSBC. On 25 November 2009, the Kazphosphate LLC, a<s‘ub3|dqary of the pa;‘er\t company, entered mto a credit
facility agreement with HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SB JSC (* HSBC")\the total amount of credit availablé being US
dollars 40,000 thousand with matunty up to 25 May 2011 Thépurpose of-this credit facility is working capital
financing required dunng normal course of the Company s operations

The credit facility 1s secured against property plant and -equipments and trade recewvables from sale of yellow
phosphorus under the contracts signed between the “Grotip and Fosfa Akcnova Spoleconst Ciech S A, ICL-IP
Bitterfeld GmbH, PCC Rokita § A , Reckitt Bencktser Production Sp Zoo i

Kazphesphate LLC has certain restnctlve covenants related to the short—term loans provided under the credit
facility agreement with HSBC Restnctwe ~covenants reqwre compllance»wuh certain financial indicators including
profitability ratio and fi nanciaf Ieverage«As 0f,31 December 2010 and 31 Dacernber 2009 Kazphosphate LLC was
In comphance with the restnctlve covenants S, /

~

Alfa Bank On 22 October 2009, Kazphosphate LLC entered Into a credit facility agreement with Alfa-Bank SB
JSC in the total amount\of Kazakhstan JTenge 1,500,000 thousand with matunty up to 22 Qctober 2012 The
purpose of this credit line 15'working capltal f nancrng -~

Credit faciity 1s-secured against. Kazphosphate LLC's property, plant and equipments and trade receivables from
sale of sodlum tnpolyptf&sphate trrcatclum phosphate and” thermal phosphoric acid under the contracts signed
between Kazphosphate LLC and Argo LLC, Riteks P LLC, Eurasia Holding LLC, Vinmcabythim JSC, Business
Alllance L}C and other entities ™

Developmeqt Bank of Kazakhstan In June 2010 all loans from Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC have
been repard in.full N

3
Kennon Finance. Linnted & Drewes Management Limited, the amounts owed to these companies by
Kazphosphate Ltll'llted\ represent /unsecured ioans and have no fixed repayment date Kennon Finance Limited
and Drewes Management Limited are related parties to Kazphosphate Limited by virtue of common ownership

/
r
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17. Borrowings (continued)

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in currencies as follow

in thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Loans denominated In - US dollar 166,637 172,553
- Tenge 6,060 1,803
Total borrowings 172,697 174,356
e

Nominal interest rates at the reporting date were as folfows L

In percentage < 2010 2009
HSBC 10
Development Bank of Kazakhstan 10-13
Alfa-Bank 12
COMPANY

i
The carrying amount and fair value of borrowing are as follE:w S
Carrying amount\\ / Fair Value
in thousands of US doliars 2010 \2009/ v 2010 2009
Kennon Finance Limited 1237337~ 123,337 123,337 123,337
Drewes Management Limited 9.418.. \\ 8,418 9,418 9,418
Kazphosphate LLC 8,826~ . ™~ 8,584 8,829 8,584
\. \ \\ \‘a_\ \\
Total borrowings 141 584\ 5\ 141 339\.\ S 141,584 141,339
NS ~. -

\ s
e \ \
18. Other Taxes Payable
& f’ \ \\
in thousands of /S dollars J““‘*-nm, 2010 2009

NNy —— \/

Minerals extraction-tax (royalty-in 200 /

(royalty: N 8) \ 7 913 482

Enwron/n)entaI emission payments 507 356
l-tax-

lszcigd a>|< / Q\ 1114 131

ndwidual Income tax .

N N \ 100 129
Payable'to social fund Ny 3 71
C hold Yo

orporate withholding tax 3 } 153 3
VAT / 96 101
Customs fee 4 117 i
Other / 7 3
Total other taxes payabl\e/ 2,007 1,276
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19. Provisions for Asset Retirement Obligations

The Group’s site restoration obligations in respect of GPK Karatau and GPK Chulaktau (*"Mining assets”) are provided
by the subsurface use contracts (“Contract”) signed between Kazphosphate LLC and the Government of the Republic
of Kazakhstan The Group has a legal oblhgation to tandfill site restoration during the mining operations and
decommissioning of its assets after its expected closure of the Mining assets

In Apri) 2009, the Group entered mto two contracts for groundwater extraction and use at the terntory of its branches
NDPhZ and MU These two contracts are vahd for 25 years and include a provision for site restoration after the
Contract expiry date

In 2008 the Group engaged an independent third party to evaluate future costs for/%ndﬁll site restoration as at 31
December 2007 in relation to site and infrastructure development built after the commencement of the Contract The
Group 1s not respensible for site restoration and infrastructure dismanthng assets exn\sllng before the commencement of
the Contract Significant expenses are expected to be incurred in 2015 at the’ Contract expiry date In accordance with
valuation conducted by independent experts, the total future costs for equrpment decommrssronmg and site restoration
after the Contract expiry date was estmated US$ 4,242 thousand Future estlmaled cash\outﬂows for site restoration
purposes were discounted at the rate of 14% and inflation rate of 8% based on the average rates on long-term
secunties of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan {MUIKAM yield rate of 14 28 percent according to
tnformation bhulletin of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan) and weighted average inflation rate of 8
percent Discount unwinding 15 recognized as interest expense’ in the statement of comprehenswe income within
finance costs , \\

Mining asset retirement and restoration obligations at 31 December, 2010 and 2009 are estimated at a’Huscount rate of

14% and inflation rate of 8% based on the average rates on the\long—term securltles of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan (MUIKAM yield rate of 14 28 percent according to.the information bulletin of the Nationai Bank
of the Republic of Kazakhstan) and weighted average mﬂatlon of 8% AN

In accordance with the contractual terms, Kazphosphate LLC 15 requrred to.make payments to a hquidation fund
regulated by the government of the Republic of” Kazakhstan, and. the payments -are calculated as 0 1 percent of iis
operating costs In accordance with contractual terms Kazphosphate LLC lransfers cash to a long-term bank depesit
account to finance site restoratron n future At 31 December 2010the fotal balance on special deposit was USS 96
thousand (2009 USS 79 thou}and) - \ T \/

Valued mining asset liquidation aﬁ& sTle\ restoratlon obhgatrons should be settled at the end of the useful Iife of each
field varying from 2015- 201} Obligations ' }on groundwater wells should be settled after the Contract expiry date in

2034 \ \

Movements in provisions for. site.restoration obhgatrons are as fol!ews

- -~

ST \\/{ - / Groundwater

in thousands of US doffars ™. Ore fields wells Total
RN ~
Carrylné?mémt at 31 Decem ber 2008\ 3,000 - 3,000
Addrt}ons to.estimated assets N\ % - 63 63
Currency translahon (510) - (510)
Unwinding of lhe presem value dlscount 350 - 350
Carrying amot;}'nt at 31 December 2009 2,840 63 2,903
Additiens to estrmat\ed aésey - - -
Currency translation (18) - (18}
Unwinding of the present val\u/e discount 403 5 408
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 3,225 68 3,293
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20. Employee Benefits

In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009
Short-term portion of employee benefits 81 62
Long-term portion of employee benefits 637 981
Total employee benefits AN 718 1,043
Changes in the benefit obligations are as follows // g /

In thousands of US dollars N 2010 2009

S
Present value of defined benefit obligation at the beglnmng of the/ \\\

year AN 1,043 718
Benefits paid Ve “(60) (70)
Current service expenses // 60 70
Actuarial losses/(gains) ) (338) ™\ 325
Discount unwinding expense . N 20\ S -
Currency translation . \ /) {7y > -
\\/ /
Present value of defined benefit obllgatlon atend of year 718 1,043
Amounts recognised in the statement of fi nanmal posmon and profit or GSS for the year s as follows
S N \
Int thousands of US dollars \ \\\ 2010 2009
N \\)
Present value of defined benefit obligatlc:n atend of y year, /\ 718 1,043
Net hability /, /" ‘\\\ \\ / \\»./f 718 1,043
VL

Interest expense /;’ ' 20 -
Current service expenses s N \\ 5 60 70
Actuanal losses/(profit) / T N\ /) {338) 325
Expense recogmsed mn. prof' itor Ioss for the year . /7 (258) 395

e
S TN
Current service expensesxv\vere 1nc|ud\ed\Q1 the statement of comprehensive income as part of general and
admimistrative expenses Actuanat gains were recognised in other comprehensive income

NN

In thousands of US dollars L 2010 2009

™ v
Cumulative a?nount of actuanal gains/lpsses recognised in other comprehensive
Income \ \\ S 705 1,043

pd

NN LS
Principal actuanial asstmptions a the reperting date are as follows

in percentage 2010 2009
Discount rate at 31 December 79 89
Average labour turnover rate at 31 December 146 16 8
Future salary increases at 31 December 75 78

In 2010 the Group engaged an independent actuary R M Khaliyeva (actuanal icense No4 dated 28 November 2001
issued by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan), and all employee benefit cbligations as at the end of 2010
were brought into line with the actuanal report The employee benefits obligation was assessed independently by the
Group
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20. Employee Benefits {continued)
Assumptions on future benefit increase represents expected increase in monthly calculation index (MCI) which 1s the
basis for determining the amounts payable in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan
In 2010 1n employee benefit obligations the following changes cccurred
» Changes in discount rates

+ MClis reconciled to the level established by the legisiation of the Republic of Kazakhstan

+ MCl s attached to the inflation rate AN
« Personnel turmnover rate 1s changed based on actuanal assumptions -
/f ™~
rd
21. Trade and Other Payables &
GROUP ) e
2/,
in thousends of US dollars 7 ~2010., 2009
A \\ \\
Financial habifities < PN RN
- S
Trade payables \ X / 12,456 14,184
i
Total financial habilities & T \\ i 12,456 14,184
S -
Non-financial habilitties \\ \\\ “\\ \
Payables to employees 1,721 1,502
Payables to pension funds — ’ 209 176
Prepayments receved / ‘\\ 2,776 -
Other payables S TN \ ‘/ 62 g78
Total non-financial hab;lmes/ \’ 4768 2,656
Trade and other payables \ / T N \ 17,224 16,840
N T
Trade payables are denomlnated m the fo Iowmg curréncies , 7
\
In thousands of Us ¢ dorfars\ ™, \ 2010 2009
Tenge 9.632 9,777
us Doliars 1,888 2,508
Russian<uble 142 1,366
Euro 674 461
Pounds Sterltng 20 71
Total payables \\\ / J 12,456 14,184
COMPANY
In thousands of US doflars 2010 2009
Trade payables 20 71
Social security and other taxes 2
Total trade and other receivables 22 72
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22. Revenue

In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Yellow phosphorus 112,205 68,348
Sodium tripolyphosphate 41,654 42,966
Ammophos 30,306 34,993
Phosphoric raws 14,158 8,708
Tnicalcium phosphate //“5.733 8,017
Thermal phosphonc acid -7 5439 5,493
Inventories // 1,137 2,115
Services ) 983 1,988
Granulated slag p 4,108 978
RTC services ( // ™ \1 691 948
Ammonia water P \563 288
Rent 575 242
Limestone s 441 236
Superphosphate ,/ 388 230
Ferrophosphorus 7 276 222
Oxygen \ e > 150 158
Dolomite s 10 123
Other products \ 7 30 69
/
Total revenue O N 219,847 176,123
\\ \;\\\ . - A \\
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market s given below \
\ \\ T ~ . -
) / LY
T T N\ s .
in thousands of US dollars P ~ NN / e ) P 2010 2009
European Union and Swn:ier!;nd// 122,925 39,663
Commonwealth of Indepéndgnl States (forrﬁer USSR) 57,269 47,676
Kazakhstan 20,584 85,842
Asia o 7.513 2,836
Americas / e 87 106
Other, ~* / \\ 11,489 -
Total revenue 219,847 176,123
E L
\\ \
)
23. Cost of Salgi P
/
In thousands of US ooﬂak / / 2010 2009
Raw matenals \// 115,922 77,347
Electrcity 26,380 23,042
Changes n inventories of fimshed goods and work in progress 9,885 8,800
Repair and maintenance 3,749 10,331
Payroli and related expenses 7.529 9,919
Depreciation 9,256 8,775
Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventory 825 270
Insurance cost 68 140
Total cost of sales 173,614 138,424
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24, Other Operating Income

In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Liabiittes write off 25 32
Gain on disposal of property plant and equipment 485 -
Other 218 168
Total other operating income 728 200

25. Distribution Costs

in thousands of US Doffars 2010 2009
Transportation services — export 24 144 14,647
Matenals and repair 2, 738 3,323
Payroll and related expense 2 415 2,307
Electrnicity / 365 474
Depreciation , 2,953 1,716
Information services e 2 \\ 243
Business trnips and representative expenses & </ o~ 321 AN 240
Certification \\ > 94 R 107
Insurance ;/ 86 206
Communication expenses \\, 68 61
Customs services 42 47
Advertising costs <\/‘\\ 30 24
Other \ \1?\ . 545 243
N e \
Total distribution costs \ \\\ \ 33,803 23,638
S,
26 General and Adm:mstraﬁExpenses \/
re
In thousands of US Doflars ./ \ 2010 2009
Payroll and related expenseg\ 5509 5,838
Production suspension expenses " 1,550 4,820
Provision for impairment of trade and.other. recewabies e \\/
and advanc;s glven“*-\ (1,205) 3,649
Maintenance, repai- and matenals 826 1,273
Communicagon and IT : expenses 327 898
Serwces of-auxihary shops
Taxes, other than income tax ™ 627 838
Superwsory\Board expenses N\ \ 375 857
Business tl‘lp\S ang representative qxpenses 521 615
Consulting services ! 635 605
Depreciation and amortisation ;o 6679 7.2186
Bank charges / 378 408
Utilites / 168 384
Rent ayd 376 408
Tax fines and penaities 54 285
Securnty services 315 273
Sponsorship and chanty 203 135
Legal services 132 153
Insurance 123 32
Accountancy 77 101
Parent company and consolidated audit remuneration® 37 32
Other 1,177 361
Total general and administrative expenses 18,884 28,981

* Remuneration to the auditers’ of subsidianes 1s included within Consuliing services
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27. Other Operating Expenses

In thousands of US Dollars 2010 2009
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 100 (15)
and on shortage of inventories
Other 40 125
Total other operating expenses 140 110
’//
28. Finance Income and Costs e
xr’
in thousands of US Dollars R 2010 2009
~ \
Finance come \/ \
Interest iIncome on bank deposit 631
Foreign exchange gain from cash and cash equivalents \37 1,073
Foreign exchange gain from borrowings 7 718, 834
Other interest income S 341 \ 29

Total finance iIncome \\ ) 7 > 1,099

N> 2,567

Finance costs

PRaN
Foreign exchange loss from borrowings 'Y \\ (475) (10,804)
Foreign exchange loss from cash and cash equ1valent§ . \ (31) (1,343)
Interest expense on borrowings NS (4.814) (5,765)
Asset retirement obligations unwinding of present vatue disGount x (408) (3569)
Foreign exchange loss from tntege/_st expense \ \ // P \\\ - (3) (167
b e
Total finance costs / o \\ \ e / ~ (5,731) (18,438)
Total finance costs, net / } \ \ \\ {4,632) {15.871)
i N

\/ \*/->
29, lncome Tax— \\ /_\ Vs
in rhousands of U5 Doifars~, "\, \ 2010 2009
Curre\nt lng/ome tax \\ \ \ {(917) 1
Deferreq( mcg\me tax expensel(bgneflt) x (22,219) (9409)
Income ta\i(»e\;begsel(beneﬁt) YA 23,136 (9408)

N4
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29. Income Tax (continued)

Differences between IFRS and statutory taxation regulations gives nse to temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and habiities for financial reporting purposes and their income tax bases The tax effect of the
movements in these temporary differences Is detalled below, and is recorded at the rate applicable to penod of assets

realisation or habilities settlement

In thousands of US doliars 2010 2008

Profit/{loss) before income tax {12,882) (7,582)
Income tax (expense)/benefit at applicable tax rate 3,9/07 28% 2,123
Non-deductible/non-taxable ilems /(4.523) (2,049)
Change n tax rate - (73
Current tax (charge)/benefit /// /' (916) 1

y

N
N N

30. Group deferred tax assets and labilities &\ / N
'

\\

28%

Deferred tax assets and habiities are attnbutable to the following -none of whlch are concerned with the Company, only

the other subsidianes in the Group

< Rs\set Llebllntles Net
ey N
In thousands of US dollars 2010, \ 2009 . 2010\\ 2009 2010 2009
by s
\’/
Property, plant and equupmeny / (61 857) (43,387) (61,857) (43,387)
Intangible assets // \\ (12, 347) {(10,0786) (12,347} (10,076)
V4
Ligud fund (asset) < / - \\\ - (209) - (209)
Trade and other receivables e - 14, - - - 114
Provisions - / T \1/836 (249) - (249) 836
Employee benefits ““\ 44 - - 35 44
Y
anuu{ung\ 424 - - - 424
Other DaVables\ \\ /1 37 652 - - 137 652
Net tax aS',\s\et“.jl(ha\bllltles) 2,070 (74,453) (53,672) (74,281) (51,602)
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30. Group deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Group Recogmised In Recognised in Group
in thousands of US dollars 2010 ncome equity 2009
Property, plant and equipment (61,857) (18,470) - (43,387)
Intangible assets (12,347) (2,271) - (10,076)
Liquid fund (asset) . 209 Ve - (209)
Trade and other receivables R (114) - ’ _ 114
Provisions (249) A, 035) /\ \ - 836
Employee benefits 35 (9) - 44
e \
Liquid fund - {4{4) - 424
e
Other payables 137 ¢ / (515) - N 652
b
(74,281) \ \(22 679) ) -\ {51,602)

\\\ /
All temporary differences were recognised in the statemem of comprehenswe\ income
. \.\
31. Contingencies, Commitments and Operatiﬁgﬁ\ifks
\
. \

Political and economic situation _mn Kazakhstan. \The Groups Iargest trading subsidiary Kazphosphate LLC

ey AY - h e,
cperates In  Kazakhstan //"tn géneral, the\ gconomy”  of-. the~, Country continues to  display
the charactenstics of an emerglng’market \These charactenstlcs mclude\but are not mited to, the existence of a

national currency that 1s not freéiy convertlble outside \of the country and a low level of hquidity of debt and equity

securities in the markets ; ’ \ \

The mining sector In I‘<\az\akhstan IS stLII/lmpacted by poimcal Jlegislative, fiscal and regulatory developments The
prospects for economic stablhty\m Kazakhstan are largely dependent upon the effectiveness of economic measures
undertaken by the government, together ‘with*legal, regulatory and political develepments, which are beyond the
Group's coptrol T v
The fnancaal/éndﬂnon ana’“‘future operations of the Group may be adversely affected by continued economic
diffi cultles rélated mainly to\the\current SItuatlon In the global financial markets Management 1s unable to predict
the extent and duration of the economlc dlfﬁcumes nor quantify the impact, if any, on these financial statements

hY

kN
Tax and trans(er pricing Ieg:slatmn. Kazakh-tax legislation and practice i1s In a state of continuous development, and
therefore LS\SUbject fo varying interpretations and frequent changes, which may be retroactve Further, the
interpretation of\tax\leglslatlon by tax,authonties as applied to the transactions and activities of the Group may not
coincide with lhat\of management /As a result, tax authonties may challenge transactions and the Group may be
assessed for additiona! taxes, penalties and fines Tax periods remain open to review by the Kazakh tax authonties for
five years N

Whilst there 1s a nsk that thefKazakh tax authonties may chalienge the policies, including those relating to transfer
pricing and excess profits tax legistation The management believes that they would be successful in defending any
such challenge and notes that the amount of potential claim of the tax authonties cannot be reliably estimated

Accordingly, at 31 December 2010, the financial statements do not include any prowisions for potential tax habilities
{2008 no provision)

In 2008 the tax authorities conducted a detailed tax audit on proper tax assessment and timely payment of taxes and
other obligatory payments to the budget, including excess profit tax for years ended 31 December 2006, 2007 and
2008 Based on the results of the tax audit, no significant violations were 1dentified
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31. Contingencies, Commitments and Operating Risks (continued)

Changes in tax leguslation On 10 December 2008 the President of Repubiic of Kazakhstan signed a new Tax Code
and other legislative acis following the introduction of the new Tax Code, which came into force starting from 1 January
2009 During 2008 the government confinued to introduce amendments to the Tax Code The key changes made
include replacement of the royalty by the mineral extraction tax with the increase i rates from 1 4 percent to 16 2
percent from 2009 tll 2012 and up to 16 8 percent in 2013, up to 17 percent in 2014, reduction of the corporate income
tax rates from 30 percent to 20 percent from 2009 tll 2012, down to 17 5 percent in 2013, 15 percent in 2014,
reduction of the VAT from 13 percent to 12 percent, introduction of the fixed social tax rate of 11 percent, increase in
the property tax rate from 1 percent to 15 percent in relation to the taxable base whlch includes only immovable
preperty and cancellation of the properly tax in relation to other property, change In ‘the methodology of excess profit

tax calculations, and other changes y

On 26 November 2010 the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan mgne’é a iaw concerning the introduction of
amendments into the tax code effective from 1 January 2011 The mamn amendments include the cancellation of the
decrease of corporate income tax rate and fixing 1t at the level of 20% wﬁhou/t any changes in subsequent periods

Commitments under subsurface use contracts As a part of costs o}the acquisition of subsol use nghts, the Group

has a commitment to financing social programs which are beneficial for the Zhambyl reg|on of Kazakhstan as a whole
The Group will not receive any direct benefit from such costs but they are obligatory in accordance with the provisions
on acquisiton of subsurface use nghts According to the addendums to the contracts for.. phosphorrc ore,
Kazphosphate LLC should annually pay Tenge 15,000 thousand until the contract expiry date for\the development of
Zhambyl region Moreover, simiiar payments in the amount of Tenge 1,600 thousand are provided under the contracts
for ground water production These social costs were recogmseg asa part gf’acqms:tlon costs and were capitalised,
and relevant habiities were recognised at present value of future, soclal costs within the exploration and production
penod As at 31 December 2010 the Group recognlzed current Ilabrlltres’m the amount of US$ 113 thousand (2009
US$ 113 thousand) and non-current liabilities in the amount of US$ 568-thousand (2009 US$§ 666 thousand)

According to the contracts for phosphone ore Kazphosphate LLC makes payments for obligatory and voluntary social
development programs The costs on social deveiopment programs are\exﬁensed as incurred based on therr
occurrence For the year ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 Kazphosphate LLC incurred the following
costs In this respect US$ 1,016 | thousand.and USS 873 tho}t}sand,,respec’uvely

According to the contracts fcr phosphonc ore extractlon Ka/zphosphate LLC s hable for financing staff professional
training programs Kazphosphate LLC st requrred to spend not less than 1% of its cperating expenses for staff
professional training programs on an annua} basis These\costs are expensed as incurred

Capital expenditure commrtments At 31 December\2010 fthe Group has centractual capital expenditure
commitments on property, plant “and equrpment purchase lotalhng US$ 7,762 thousand (2009 US$ 773 thousand)

The Group belleves s that future net rncom’g and fundlng will beéuffcrent to cover this and any simular commitments

Operatmg lease commrtﬁ\r\énts Whe\r}é\the Group 15 a lessee, the future mimimum lease payments under the non-
cancellable operatmg jeases are US$ 27 thousand per month until October 20114

in thousands of US dollars \ \\ 2010 2008

\ kY hd
Within one year \ ‘ 243 324
1-2years . } - 243

Total SN S / 243 567
~

Insurance polictes The Groulp holds insurance policies in refation to the following nsks

- Insurance of property,

- Insurance of civil responsibility of employer for causing damage to iife and health of employee duning his/her work
duties,

- Insurance of civl responsibility of employer for causing damage to environment,
- Insurance of ¢l responsibility of vehicles owners,

- Insurance of cwil responsibility of property owners, operations which can cause damage to third
parties

Page | 41




KAZPHOSPHATE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — 31 DECEMBER 2010

31. Contingencies, Commitments and Operating Risks (continued)

Environmental matters. The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Republic of Kazakhstan 1s evolving and
the enforcement posture of government authonties 1s continually being reconsidered The Group penodically evaluates
its obligations under environmental regulations As cbligations are determined, they are recognised immediately in the
financial statements Thus, due to adoption of the Ecology Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, dunng 2008 the Group
created a iquidation fund to provide for landfill site restoration and environmental monrtenng upon closure In addition
to the hquidation fund, representing a special account for accumulation of funds, the Group accrued a provision for
landfill site restoration obligations The amount of the accrued provision for landfill site restoration obligations was
based on management's best estmates of future costs which will be incurred by the Grgup for repayment of its current
habilites in the current enforcement chmate under existing legislation, management believes that there are no
significant liabilities for environmental damage )

S
The new Tax Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan s effective from 1 January 2009, whereby the emission payment

rates are increased and levying procedure is updated . N

Environmental protection management system 1SO 14001 and quality management sys\tem I50-9001 are implemented
in NDPhZ and MU divisions In 2009 the Group introduced a health and labour safety management system based on
OHSAS 18001 and recewved a certificate of comphance with the, standard effective unti! August 2011 (1ISO-9001) and
Apnl 2013 (ISC-14001, OHSAS 18001) /’ 3

The Group's management also developed and approvedfa number of pohcues\ on quality, enwronme\ntal protection,
health and labour safety, the main purposes of which are strict observance of requrements and expectations of
consumers and other related parties on product quality, enwronmental poilutlon prevennon health and“labour safety
\.

~
PR 4

T
Financial risk factors The Group's acnv;tlee\expose it to . a variety of\ﬂnanglal nsks market risk, (including fereign
exchange nsk), !quidity nsk and credit nsk\ The'\Groups overall risk management programme focuses on

the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to mmlmise potentlaily\adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance \/5
/‘.——NL‘\N
{(a) Credit risk yal \ \ // 7
I e
Financial assets, which potenllally sublect the Group\to credit nsk, consnst prnncipally of trade recewvables, loans
recewvable, cash and cash equwalents and restncted cash N\

32. Financial Risk Management

The Group has developed pollc:es to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history and godd reputation Clients WhICh do not meet the Group’s solvency requirements may have
transactions with the Group oaly omthe terms of prepay‘menthMammum credit nsk exposure represents the current
carrying value of trade recewables loans’recewable ‘cash and"'cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash is placed in fnancnaj InSEItUtIOHS\WhICh are considered at the time of deposit to have a minimal risk of default
Addmonai!y rthe Group analyses the externial credit ratings of these financial institutions

Althougb <eollectlcm of receivables”could be infiyenced by economic factors, management believes that there i1s no
significant risk,of joss to the Group beyond the prowsmns for receivables impairment already recorded

\

. L

/
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32. Financial Risk Management (continued)

The table below shows the credit ratings as of 31 December 2010 and batances with banks and financial institutions
where cash and cash equivatents and term deposits were placed as of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009

in thousands of US dollars Rating 31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Cash and cash equivalents

Kazkommertsbank JSC B/ Stable/C (S&P) 33 818
BTA Bank JSC B-/Stable/~ (S&P) / 19 2
Bank CenterCredit B1/Negative (Moody's) / 30 1
Halyk Bank of Kazakhstan JSC B+/ Negatwe/B (S&P) 3 1
Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC BEB-/ Stable/A-3 (S&P) O \ - 1
HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SB JSC BBB (Fitch) 5 1
HSBC Bank ple (UK) AA (Fiteh) 23\ 2
Alfa-Bank SB JSC B+ PosmvelB/(S&P) 279 1
Delta Bank GJSC B/Stable (S&P) 3~ 1

Foreign exchange difference
Total cash and cash equivalents

AN

9 17 \// -
e
y 412 828

Restncted cash \ <

Delta Bank QJSC, Almaty branch ( B/Stable (S&P) 96 79

Total restncted cash \ \\\\ \”‘»\ N \ 96 79
N — - \>

(b) Market risk \\ /

P
Foreign exchange risk Forelgn exchange risk anses when’fut/ure forergn cur/rency mflows or recognized assets and
liabilities are denominated n clirrency other than the Group s functional currency

The Group exports its products to European and CIS markets and attracts long-term borrowings and trades payable
are denominated In forelgn/currency As a result, the Group, 1s exposed to foreign exchange nsk Production and
processing costs are denomlnated ] Kazakh Tenge whlle\a portion of the revenues are denominated in US dollars,
Euro and Russian rubles Thus ttls/group IS exposed ~to_ rlsk‘that changes in exchange rates affect both revenue and

financial position - .
g

The table below,shows\tﬁe\total amount of foreign currency denominated assets and habilities within Kazphosphate
LLC bemg the only matenal balances that gwve nise to foreign exchange exposure at 31 December 2010 and 2009

\ At 31 December 2010

.~ Russian
in thousands of US dollars \ Tenl ruble US dollar Euro Pounds Total
Financial assets~\\ / 4670 4,952 20,239 95 558 30,514
Finaneoial habilitie (18. 519) (142) (35,985) (674) - { 53,320}
Net balance posltlor\ /1 1,849) 4,810 (15,746) (579) 558 (22,806}

v At 31 December 2009

Russian
In thousands of US dollars Tenge ruble US dollar Euro Pounds Total
Financtal assets 6,181 3,994 16,642 50 349 27.217
Financial labilities {13,206) {1,028) (42,174) { 467) - (56,873)
Net balance position {7.025) 2,966 (25,532) (417) - (29,656)

The Group does not have any formal arrangements to mitigate the foreign exchange nsks of the Group’s

operations

Price risk The Group 1s not exposed to equity secunties pnce nsk since it does not hold a portfolio of quoted equily

securities
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32 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Interest rate risk. The Group's revenues and operating cash flows take on exposure to the effects of market interest
rates since interest rates on loans recewved from HSBC Bank Kazakhstan SB JSC, Alfa-Bank SB JSC and
Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC are fixed At the same time, the Group 1s exposed to the changes in fair value
related to interest rates

The Group does not have any formal arrangements to analyse and mitigate interest rate nisks

Liabiities under which the effects of interest rate nsks occurred at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 are
disclosed in Note 17

(c) Liquidrty risk Liquidity nisk 1s defined as the nisk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
assoctated with financiat labiities The Group's appreach to hquidity management 5 to ensure the continuous and
sufficient iquidity to meet the Group's habilities as they fall due (both under standard and non-standard situations),
preventing unacceptable losses or reputation damage 7

Below I1s the information on contractual terms of financial habihties.settlement, including interest payments as of
31 December 2010 and 31 December 2008 )

Cash flows ~

Carrying unge? Within .13 312 1-5 Over
in thousands of US doflars value agreement < 1 month months months.__ year 5 years
- LT
Liabilitries \/ -
Borrowings 172,864 172,864 - 12,106 28,003 - 132,795
Trade and olher payables” 17,224 / \\\ 17,224 -4 17.224 - - -
Provision for social development 681~ "~ 681 - \ - 113 - 568
NN e N
Total 190,769 N\ 190,769 ™. - 29,330 28,116 - 133,323
Cogntows 7" N
o Cash flows S \ 15

7 Carrying \ uhder, Within . 143 312 yea Over

i thousands of US dollars - .. value agreement -1 month ™ months months s § years
N D
\ ¢
Liabilites ; NN
Borrowings 174,623 174,623 \ 1,586 5,372 26,665 - 141,000
Trade and other payables* 1471987 _ 14,198, - 14,198 - - -
Prowision for social development s T A - - - - 880
e NS T T~
Total 7 T \ 189,600 Ty 89, 81> 1,586 19,670 26,665 - 141,880
Advan?s ‘received, tlam prowswons “estimated habiities, salanes payable are not included

ANERN

Cap.rtal\ risl{ management The Group's object\lves when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s abilty to
continue-as a going concem In order to pro\nde returns for shareholders and benefits for oiher stakeholders and to
maintain an, optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital The Group monitors capital based on the gearng
ratio This raho :s\assessed as net debt to the total amount of capital Net debt 1s assessed as total debt amount
(including short* term\and long- -term bank loans recorded in the statement of financial position) net of cash and cash
equivalents and term deposns The, total amount of capital 1s assessed as the amount of equity recorded in the
statement of financial pOStthﬂ and net debt

In thousands of LS doilars < Note 2010 2009
Total loans 172,864 174,623
Less Cash and cash equivalents 16 (412) (828)
Net debt 172,452 173,795
Total own capital 300,782 347,726
Total capital 473,234 521,521
Financial leverage ratio 57% 33%
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33. Financial Instruments by Measurement Category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been apphed to line items below
In thousands of US dollars 2010 2009

Loans and receivables

Restricted cash 96 79
Trade recevables 18,210 14,765
Loans receivable 2,745 3,237
Cash and cash equivalents / 412 828
Long term receivables v 18 37
Advances given 7 - 875
Total financial assets d /\\:y 481 19,821

Other financiai habiliies / \\\
Borrowings 172,697 174,356

Trade payables 12,456% 14,184
568 g 666

Provision for social development of the region, non- current
portion
Provision for social development of the region, current

portion e 113 113
Interest payable \“ \ 167 267
Advances received - - 2,543
Income tax hability ~_ 255 125
Other taxes payable \ S 2,007 1,276

Total financial habilites .~~~ A\ / \\\ " 188,263 193,530
N \/\

34 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

%

Farr value 1s the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing

parties, other than in a forced sale\er Ilqmdat:on and i§"best ewdenced by an active quoted market price

The estimated “farr values of fi nanmal |nstruments “have bgen determined by the Group using avalable market
mformatlon wpere it- exnstS\and appropr\late valuation methodologies However, judgment 1s necessanly required to
interpret market data to determme the estimated farr value The Republic of Kazakhstan continues te display some
chara\r:tenstlcs of an emergmg market and économlc conditions continue to imit the volume of activity in the financial
markets_ Ma\rket quotations may be outdated\or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore not represent farr
values of»fjnan(:lal mnstruments Management has used all avallable market information n estimating the fair value of

financial nstruments \ “

Financial assets camed at amomsed cost. The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments 1s based cn
estimated future cash ﬂows expected to be recewed discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with
similar credit risk and{emalnlng matunty Discount rates used depend on credit nsk of the counterparty The carrying
amounts of trade recelvapies cash and cash equivalents, restncted cash and loans receivable approximate far values
due to their short term maturmes

\v e

Liabilities carried at amortrsed cost. The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments with stated matunty,
for which a quoted market pnce s not available, was estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at current
interest rates for new instruments with stmutar credit sk and remaining matunty Due to short matunties the carrying
amount of trade payables and borrowings approximate their farr values
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35 Subsequent events

In April 2011 HSBC Bank Kazakhstan and JSC ATF Bank signed an agreement with Kazphosphate LLC for the provision
of a syndicated loan in the amount of US$ 50 million for the construction of a sulphunc acid workshop on the basis of a
mineral feriilizer plant This project 1s implemented in accordance with the instructions of the President of the Republic of
Kazakhstan, N A Nazarbayev within the chemical industry development program in the Republic of Kazakhstan The
implementation of this project will allow

+ anncrease In the productions of Kazakh ferttizers up to 600 tonnes per annum,

* to ensure the production of mineral fertilizers using internal electricity facmties up to 25 mw,

+ to create jobs, )

+ o reduce the dependence on external supphers of sulphuric acid, .

s toreduce the cost of mineral fertilizers, ¢

+ to ensure 100% provision of Kazakh agnicultural producers with the mineral fertilizers and to increase

competitiveness in global markets, &

As of the reporting date dorrowings of US$ 8 mithon were invesied n the,construc‘lion 01{19 sulphunc acid production
workshop e

-
o

In May 2011 and agreement was signed between Kazphosphate Ll.C and the Czech company Fosfa as for the creation
of a jeint venture for production of sodium hexamelaphosphate/and other ammonia ferrous sulphates The estimated
production capacity of the producing plant 1s 5,000 tonnes per anQum /'\\ .
7
In June 2011 the Group decided to dispose of its 100% shareholdln\g n the com{any Lamberto LLC
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